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Australian Primary Health Care Nurses 
Association (APNA) is the peak professional 
body for nurses working in primary health 
care. Our vision is a healthy Australia through 
best practice primary health care nursing.
Nurses in primary health care contribute to a healthy Australia 
through innovative, informed and dynamic care. APNA champions 
the role of primary health care nurses; to advance professional 
recognition, ensure workforce sustainability, nurture leadership in 
health, and optimise the role of nurses in patient-centred care.

APNA is bold, vibrant and future-focused. We reflect the views of 
our membership and the broader profession by bringing together 
nurses from across Australia to represent, advocate, promote and 
celebrate the achievements of nurses in primary health care.

APNA’s goals are to:
1. Be recognised as the lead organisation advancing education and  

career development for primary health care nurses in Australia.

2. Provide primary health care nurses with a voice and advocate  
on their behalf on relevant national healthcare policy.

3. Continue to be a robust and sustainable organisation, delivering  
great member value.

4. Identify key emerging issues and trends in primary health care,  
and be a lead influencer and innovator.
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2018 was the year of Nurseforce for 
the Future, a theme that echoed in our 
organisation and membership from January 
to December. APNA witnessed strong 
growth in profile, finances, organisational 
team and membership. And it continues 
to raise the profile of primary health 
care nurses as the key drivers of safe, 
high quality, innovative health care. 

Membership 
APNA continues to reinforce the message that 
primary health care nurses are truly ‘must-have’ 
team members in any primary health care team. 
With a growing membership, APNA has attracted 
nurse members from a wide range of primary 
health care nursing fields. This year alone we have 
welcomed 1,501 new nurse members and 138 
new student members into the APNA family. 

Education
Providing quality education and professional 
development has always been core to APNA’s work, and 
in 2018 it has gone from strength to strength. APNA 
delivers several CPD opportunities including the highly 
successful Foundations of General Practice Nursing, 
Updates in Primary Health Care, and Contemporary 
Chronic Disease Management workshops, not to 
mention the extensive list of online learning provided 
by the APNA Online Learning program. In 2018 
approximately 500 nurses attended over 230 hours 
of workshops, and we had over 10,000 registered 
online users accessing 200 hours of elearning 
programs. Apart from our own education, APNA has 
also partnered with a number of Primary Health 
Networks to deliver education programs and support 
to primary health care nurses across the country. 

Each year I write that the APNA conference had the 
most attendees ever; 2018 has been no exception as 
numbers expand year on year. The APNA 2018 National 
Conference, Nurseforce for the Future, was attended 
by 575 delegates, with over 200 nurses being first 
time attendees. Ninety two per cent of the delegates 
were satisfied with the conference, demonstrating 
APNA’s discretion to significant current issues as well 
as the professionalism of the conference team. 

Nursing in Primary Health 
Care program (NiPHC)
In January 2018 the APNA executive and I met with 
Minister for Health Hon Greg Hunt to highlight the 
great work being done by nurses in primary health 
care and the key role they play in preventive care and 
wellness of the population and hospital avoidance. 
We were able to showcase the work that APNA has 
been doing under the NiPHC program and lobby for 
new funding to not only continue but expand the 
great work of the program. The announcement of 
four-year funding for APNA and the NiPHC program 
was clearly the highlight of the 2018 Federal Budget.

The NiPHC program has created much interest, 
not only amongst primary health care nurses but 
also in the wider primary health care community. 
There have been many enquires directed to 
APNA about how to run nurse clinics and how to 
attract nurses to primary health care services. 

You must have read the number of articles in Primary 
Times by NiPHC program participants and innovative 
models of care being created by nurses to support their 
patients and their clinics. The NiPHC pilot programs 
were oversubscribed manyfold and the new programs 
being rolled out in 2019 have generated just as much 
interest. The Transition to Practice Program has seen an 
89% retention rate at the end of the two-year program 
demonstrating the effectiveness and credibility of the 
APNA model for this program. The Contemporary 
Chronic Disease Management workshops held 
across Australia attracted many new members along 
the way. There have been a number of resources 
developed as part of the Enhanced Nurse Clinics and 
other NiPHC projects that are available to members 
on the APNA website and more on the way. The My 
Nursing Future website and Career and Education 
Framework continues to generate much interest with 
over 24,000 users visiting the site. Read more on the 
NiPHC program throughout this Annual Report. 
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APNA Representation
APNA continues to explore opportunities to deliver 
news and seek our members’ thoughts through 
social media and our online forums. The online 
community provide opportunities for members to 
network and comment on health issues that can help 
inform our policy work. Our digital reach grows with 
over 141,000 visitors to the APNA website in 2018.

2018 has seen continued strong demand for APNA 
representation on high level health committees and 
advisory groups. The influence of APNA and primary 
health care nurses, especially in change management 
and healthcare reform, is well recognised. Ongoing 
key areas of healthcare reform include review of the 
delivery and funding of chronic disease management 
and review of the Medicare Benefits Schedule (MBS). 
I have been privileged to continue to represent 
the primary health care nursing perspective on 
the General Practice and Primary Care Clinical 
Committee as part of the MBS Review. Phase one 
and two reports were publicly released in late 2018. 

APNA continues high level representation on a number 
of key committees including the National Asthma 
Council Board and the Australian Digital Health Agency, 
Department of Health committees, Royal Australian 
College of General Practitioners, and the Australian 
Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care, and 
the Department of Veterans’ Affairs CVC program. 
There is also a growing demand for primary health 
care nurse representation at state level. A full list of 
representational activities is provided on page 23. 

APNA’s policy and advocacy role continues to 
develop, with a significant increase in requests for 
APNA’s input into major health and nursing policy 
consultations. APNA has a dedicated policy officer 
and our member Policy Position and Advocacy 
Reference Group. The full list and the content of 
APNA’s position statements and submissions can be 
found in the ‘Your Profession’ section of our website.

Governance
The governance of APNA remains strong. The nurse 
board members are experienced clinical and business 
managers and have attended external governance 
training. A number of the board members also hold 
formal Australian Institute of Company Directors 
governance qualifications. Our invited board members 
bring high level business management, marketing 
and policy skills to APNA. All these factors combine 

to keep APNA’s eyes on the horizon, set direction 
for the organisational development and manage 
risk as we take APNA strategically forward building a 
robust peak body for primary health care nurses. 

Financial standing
With a strong financial position, the year has seen new 
business development and products and a sound 
investment strategy as outlined in the financial report 
in page 57. 2018 begun the phasing in of the monthly 
direct debit payment scheme for membership with a 
goal of a universal annual renewal date of 31 March. 

The highlight of APNA member benefits has been 
the offering of a very competitive professional 
indemnity insurance product which has 
seen a very keen uptake in its first year.

Thank you
The APNA team has been actively working to meet 
the goals of our Brave to Bold strategic plan for 
2015 –2018. On behalf of the board, I thank the entire 
APNA team for their skill, adaptability, flexibility, and 
professionalism that has made 2018 a sensational year 
for our organisation and primary health care nursing. 

As APNA President and Chair of the Board, I 
want to pass on my thanks to my fellow board 
members. They give their time, expertise and 
commitment to support, guide, strategise and 
encourage innovation and set the direction that 
will take APNA onwards, outwards and upwards.

The board extends a special thank you to all our 
member volunteers who give their time selflessly in 
support of primary health care nurses and our shared 
vision of a healthy Australia through best practice 
primary health care nursing. We thank you for your 
contribution to advisory groups and committees, forums, 
nursing networks, and many other activities that help 
make APNA a strong, vibrant organisation and a truly 
representative peak body for nurses in primary  
health care.

I commend APNA’s 2018 Annual Report to our members.

Karen Booth
APNA President
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C E O ’ S  R E P O R T

Ken Griffin
APNA Interim Chief 
Executive Officer

APNA is maturing as an organisation. 
2018 saw us take significant steps towards 
ensuring that Australian primary health 
care nurses have a robust organisation, 
respected by the healthcare profession 
and recognised as a progressive and 
influential national professional body.

Membership
While membership of professional organisations 
in Australia is generally flat, APNA increased its 
membership by 21% in 2018. Stronger membership 
delivers greater financial self-sufficiency, greater 
scope to expand member services, and greater 
capability to lobby to advance the health of Australia, 
and ultimately, the interests of our profession. 

Delivering outstanding value to APNA members 
and recruiting new members continued to be our 
primary focus. Well-established member services 
such as the APNA National Conference and the 
Foundations of General Practice Nursing workshop 
series were once again highly successful, and 
we continued to run education events beyond 
national cities to meet the needs of the regions.

Governance
We continued improving our governance, holding 
an Extraordinary General Meeting to advance the 
APNA Constitution in order to strengthen the board 
nominations and election process. These changes 
were well received with all proposed changes 
adopted unanimously by the membership. 

Finances
While it is not the intent of APNA to manage its 
finances and assets for the sake of generating 
profit, it is important for us to generate sufficient 
retained earnings to provide a buffer against 
financial headwinds or unexpected shocks.

We were chosen by the Australian Government 
Department of Health to continue expanding on our 
Nursing in Primary Health Care (NiPHC) program work 
with the awarding of a multimillion dollar four year grant.

In 2018 APNA delivered an operating surplus of 
$154,029. Together with the strong financial result 

achieved in 2017, APNA’s equity has increased 
by nearly 28% over the past two years. This 
increase in financial strength means APNA is better 
positioned to invest in new member services and 
better manage cycles of external grant funding.

Professional leadership
One of APNA’s key strategic objectives is to 
provide leadership in the development and 
advancement of primary health care nursing. 

The NiPHC program, funded by the Australian 
Government, has been successful in delivering 
innovative nurse-delivered models of care and 
promoting the recruitment and retention of nurses 
into the primary health care workforce. The next 
four years of the program will allow us to further 
demonstrate the value of primary health care 
nurses in improving health outcomes in Australia.

2018 has been a successful year for APNA. We have 
grown our membership, increased our influence with 
policymakers and strengthened the organisation to 
better represent the interests of our profession. 

I would like to thank the highly dedicated team of 
APNA staff who worked hard in 2018 to deliver 
multiple successes as well as the board for 
their ongoing strategic direction. It has been a 
privilege to work with them and I am very proud 
of what we have together achieved as a team.
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CONFERENCE 2017
575+ DELEGATES

44 SESSIONS
130 SPEAKERS
55 EXHIBITORS
20+ CPD HOURS

25
APNA Nurse Networks

500
attendees over 

230 hours of 
workshops

respondents to APNA 
Workforce Survey

2,052

online education 
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180+
hours of online 

learning

200+
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BY 21%

9,691
new online 

learning users

2018 HIGHLIGHTS
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Accredited 
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Aged care
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Nurse
Practitioner
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“I have really appreciated the support and access to information made available through 
APNA. Even after finishing work, I kept my APNA membership going, because I was and 
still am, interested in the progress of my profession. I attended several APNA 
Conferences over the years, and felt that they were most beneficial to my work. I am 
astounded by the changes and the improvements which have occurred in nursing since I 
trained in the sixties! Joining APNA was one of the smartest moves I’ve made!”

Kay Mitchell 
Retired General Practice Nurse 
APNA Member, Victoria

23%

32%

22%
2%

2%

10%
8%

1%

LIVE IN NSW

LIVE IN SA

LIVE IN VIC

LIVE IN TAS

LIVE IN ACT

LIVE IN QLD

LIVE IN WA

LIVE IN NT

WHERE YOU LIVE YOUR POSITION

APNA membership continues to grow with nurses working across 
all sectors of primary health care. In 2018, APNA’s membership grew 
by 21%—the largest annual growth we’ve experienced to date. 

APNA 
MEMBERS
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YOUR WORK SETTING YOUR CAREER STAGE 

1% 
Correctional facility

3% 
Aged care

4%
Hospital

5% 
Community health

6% 
Other

75%
General practice

1% 
Aboriginal Community 

Controlled Health Service/
Aboriginal Medical Service

3% 
Primary Health Network

2% 
Private/for profit 

organisation

“I am relatively new to general 
practice and feel somewhat 
apprehensive about my knowledge 
and skills being adequate, however 
every time I encounter APNA I feel 
completely encouraged and inspired. 
My initial introduction to the world of 
practice nursing education was APNA’s 
Foundations of General Practice 
Nursing workshop, which I loved. The 
opportunities for self-directed online 
learning are also truly awesome. 
Additionally, APNA’s CPD portal has 
made developing my own CPD 
portfolio easy for the first time in my 
nursing life and their professional 
development philosophy makes me 
excited and determined to be the best 
practice nurse I can be.”

Annie Lowry 
General Practice Nurse 
APNA Member, New South Wales
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APNA would like to recognise all of its members in 2018, and in particular our founding, platinum and 
gold members for their continued support. Founding members have been with APNA since 2001, 
Platinum members have been with APNA for more than 10 years, and Gold members have been with 
APNA for seven to 10 years. APNA and your profession is stronger with their continued support.

Founding Members
Christine Ash
Joanne Humphreys

Marion Jenkins
Samantha Moses

Lynne Walker
Kate Douglas 

Mandy Green

Platinum Members
Rita Ahern
Hamed Alghamdi
Dallas Allin
Leonie Amerena
Valencia Anderson
Sarah Arja
Margaret Arvier
Ann-Maree Attwooll
Ida Aunins
Mebin Baby
Julianne Badenoch
Laura Baker
Wanda Banning
Tonia Bariesheff
Robyn Barton
Tina Bass
Kerri Anne Bell
Janelle Bennett
Anna Billingham
Jayne Birkett
Hilary Bloomfield
Cathy Boatman
Gillian Bonser
Karen Booth
Stella Bowman
Meegan Bradbury
Christina Brady
Sharon Brain
Deb Bridgefoot
Maureen Brittain
Rhoda Brooks
Diane Bundellu
Joanne Burchett
Noreen Burke-Martin
Tara Cahill
Yvonne Calvert
Judith Cameron
Sharon Campbell
Meghan Campbell
Kerry Campbell
Sue Campbell
Lindsay Canada
Gay Carpenter
Christine Carr
Cathy Carraso
Nancy Carroll
Marilyn Carter
Janis Case
Annette Casey
Ann-Maree Caughey
Erin Chalmers
Lisa Chambers
Margaret Chesterman

Samantha Chiu
Margaret Chown
Giuseppina 
Cichello-Sanderson
Robyn Clark
Maureen Clarke
Linda Coleman
Helen Colgan
Jude Collier
Kristen Collins
Yvonne Collins
Merrilyn Collins
Lisa Collison
Cynthia Collyer
Patricia Connolly
Sally Cotterell
Tania Coubrough
Barbara Coyne
Irwin Cozens
Beth Crisp
Kristy Cruise
Linda Dalla Torre
Maxyne Dalton
Linden Daly
Gwen Daniel
Karen Dargusch
Melissa Davidson
Helen Dawe
Margaret Dempsey
Natalie Dennis
Julie Dickfos
Gillian Dollin
Sarah Doncon
Leilani Donovan
Sara Drew
Stephanie Dubois
Vicky Duniam
Kellie Anne Eason
Robyn Eden
Leanne Edwards
Lee Edwards
Maggie Eggleston
Jackie Ann Fallon
Alison Ruth Fawcett
Paula Field
Janet Fitzpatrick
Bernadette Flanagan
Tamara Flood-Cuellar
Adeola Fowosere
Liz Free
Carole French
Yvonne Gadsden
Janet Geyle

Kathy Godwin
Christine Godwin
Judith Gorst
Mark Gray
Elaine Greenwood
Rosalie Griffiths
Catherine Guy
Stephanie Hailey
Debra Hankin
Wendy Hargreaves
Anne Harvey
Jannine Harvey
Melinda Hassall
Catherine Hastings
Kirsten Hausenkraut
Sue Hawkes
Margaret Haynes
Helen Heath
Naomi Herbert
Jennifer Hickey
Gina Highet
Petra Hindley
Joanne Hodge
Cassy Hooper
Karen Huckel
Rebecca Hudson
Maree Hunter
Lesley Hutchinson
Rani Iyahvu
Kylie Jaeschke
Elizabeth Jemmett
Betty Jenkins
Wendy Jensen
Mary Johns
Erin Johns
Toni Kelly
Eilidh Kennedy
Sophie Kerr
Deborah Kimber
Monique King
Heather Kinnersly
Edwina Kramer
Aneill Kumath
Melanie Labrooy
Genevieve Laing
Janice Lane
Glenda Langford
Karen Lawrie
Dianne Leader
Ellen Lee
Susie Leister
Lavina L’Hotellier
Judith Lobsey

Glenyss Locke
Maureen Lockwood
Judith Lodge
Del Lovett
Robyn Lowth
Carol Lubach
Beverley Luke
Nic Maguire
Yvonne Malecdan
Helen Mann
Marie Manners
Shane Marles-Malone
Tracey Marshall
Linley Marshall
Robina Martin
Lindley Mattiazzi
Anne Matyear
Bernadette Maynard
Janette McAllister
Jennifer McAllister
Sherryl McCullough
Clair McDonald
Enid McInerney
Gloria McKenzie
Valmai McKenzie
Jodie McLean
Donna McLean
Mary-Anne McMichael
Jill McPhie
Liz Meadley
Sulochana Middleton
Bernadette Miller
Helen Minards
Judith Mitchell
Rita Mlinaric
Kathryn Mobbs
Jeanne Moody
Dianne Mouncey
Denise Mugavin
Rowena Mulligan
Sandra Mummery
Yvette Murcott
Tracy Murphy
Fiona Murrie
Belinda Myers
Susan Nunn
Jennifer O’Connell
Fiona O’Connor
Wendy O’Connor
Helen O’Loughlin
Ruth Parker
Julie Parlas
Joanne Paterson

Kim Patterson
Helen Payne
Marlo Pearce
Marrissa Pflasterer
Heather Phillipson
Rebecca Pleml
Lynette Pohlmann
Christina Polkinghorne
Ralph Potenciano
Mary Pountney
Michelle Powell
Helen Prince
Diane Psaila
Josephine Puckridge
Tammie Pullman
Karen Quantick
Lynette Reeves
Liana Reyes
Cherie Ribarits
Julie Richardson
Ann Ripper
Leesa Rippingale
Sonya Roberts
Lynne Robertson
Lorraine Robertson
Roslyn Rolleston
Wendy Rombouts
Neree Rowlands
Melita Royal
Sandra Salagaras
Raj Samrai
Diane Saunders
Chanique Scannell
Emma Schuh
Allison Scott
Jo-Ann Shearer
Mary-Anne Sheffield
Anna Shepherd
Inez Shippey
Lynda Shrimpton
Judith Shugg
Anne Silva
Fran Simon
Erica Slakhorst
Julie Smith
Narelle Spencer
Julie Starke
Janet (Jan) Stevenson
Nicky Stewart
Ana Stoll
Jenny Strike
Leonne Strumpher
Fran Stuart

Marcia Stuart
Julie Sullivan
Jiani Sun
Jennifer Swan
Elizabeth Jane 
Swanton
Helen Tarry
Lisa Taylor
Sandra Taylor
Grace Terry
Shirley Teshome
Wendy Thomas
Lyn Thompson
Christine Thompson
Kerry Thorpe
Dell Tierney
Sarah Tilley
Leslie Tobin
Sandra Tonello
Dino Tuason
Sandra Turvey
Christine Tyrrell
Frances Vaughan
Janina Vikis
Jenny Vink
Robyn Von Stieglitz
Robyn Wardle
Fiona Warelow
Kay Waters
Alison Watson
Jenny Webb
Catherine Weiske
Janet West
Leonie Whitfield
Christine Whittington
Fiona Williams
Sue Willis
Susan Willis
Margaret Wilson
Judy Wilson
Meredith Wilson
Caroline Windle
Julie Windon
Karina Window
Margaret Windsor
Maggie Wong
Diana Wong
Priscilla Worthley
Erin Wright
Angela Zaini
Linda Zanette
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Gold Members
Christine Abbott
Julie Ackroyd
Rebecca Adams
Jennifer Alcott
Kaeleen Allen
Christina Anderson
Ruth Anderson
Barbara Anderson
Rachael Arnott
Sue Ash
Caroline Ashcroft
Andrea Lee Ashlin
Megan Atkins
Kristine Avenia
Wendy Bailey
Karen Bailey
Jodie Bailey
Patricia Balchin
Kathryn Banicek
Grace Barbuto
Josephine Barnes
Helen Barter
Christine Bartley
Deborah Barwise
Kerry Bath
Sarah Bayes
Linda Bayliss
Amy Beavan
Catherine Bellomarino
Ruth Bennet
Julia Bennett
Sharon Benson
Sandra May Bentley
Kathy Berthelsen
Zara Bichard
Yolanda Binks
Gladys May Black
Cathy Black
Suzanne Blackeby
Rosemary Blanch
Annemarie Blom
Jeannette Blundell
Helen Boland
Jane Bollen
Angela Bond
Karen Boswell
Lou-Ann Bottomley
Yvonne Bovenizer
Diane Bowden
Christine Bowering
Evelyn Boyce
Julianna Boylan
Peter Bradshaw
Denise Brandis
Jenny Brandon
Barbara Brierley
Marguerite Broad
Brenda Broadhurst
Cath Brooke
Fiona Brown
Lisa Brown
Bernadette Bruning

Lynda Bryant
Anne Buchanan
Meagan Buckley
Leanne Bullas
Helen Burman
Julie-Anne Burrow
Debra Butcher
Robyn Butler
Tonia Buzzolini
Carol Byrne
Patrice Cafferky
Anne Camden
Lynette Campbell
Sandra Cane
Suzanne Carlisle
Petrina Carter
Karen Casey
Robyn Cassidy
Clare Chamberlain
Shun Lin Chan
Colette Chapman
Carolyn Chaston
Lili Chen
Yee Ying Zoe Cheng
Christine Chicharo
Alice Chirawu
Joceline Christodoulou
Graeme Chubb
Pauline Anne Church
Denise Clark
Dawn Clarke
Rosemary Clarke
Debbie Clatworthy
Kathryn Michaela 
Cleeve
Sally Cleland
Melanie Clifford
Alison Clisdell
Sharon Clough
Donna Clucas
Bronislawa Barbara 
Cockram
Carmel Cocks
Anthony Colagrossi
Donna Colby
Melinda Collinge
Gabrielle Combe
Alannah Connors
Yvonne Conrad
Muriel May Conway
Carisa Cook
Elaine Cooper
Karina Cooper
Caroline Cooper
Leanne Cooper
Ruth Cordingley
Sandra Joy Cornish
Theresa Wendy 
Costelloe
Anna Cox
Lisa Crisp
Carolyn Crockett

Celia Crowe
Lorraine Crowley
Susan Cullen
Aileen Cummins
Kathryn Cunning
Jennifer Cunningham
Helen Curtin
Rozina Daley
Anne Dalton
Diana Davey
Bronwyn Davidson
Belinda Davies
Tina Davis
Jennifer Davis
Lisa Dawes
Jennifer Dawson
Christina Dawson
Karen Dawson
Karen Del Fabbro
Ariane Delessert
Julie Dell
Susan Dewhirst
Ida Christine 
Di Trapani
Carolyn Wendy Dickfos
Susan Dimock
Jane Docherty
Helen Dowling
Tamara Dowse
Patricia Driver
Rosalyn Duncan
Susan Dunne
Aniela Dzierzek
Terry Eager
Andrea Edwards
Margaret Elliot
Carmel Elliott
Ann-maree Ellis
Marlene Erbs
Stephanie Farmer
Narelle Favazzo
Mansooreh 
Feiz Bakhsh
Pam Ferrar
Kym Fewings
Christine Fewtrell
Amanda Fidler
Margaret Fiedler
Debra Field
Helen Fisher
Naida Fletcher
Carol Fletcher
Sharyn Flugge
Kia Danielle Foord
Genevieve Foott
Debra Forbes
Ann-Marie Ford
Christine Forster
Anne Franke
Robyn Franks
Patricia Frith
Jeffrey Fuller

Elizabeth Furbank
Denise Gaff
Ellen Gaggin
Anne-margaret 
Gardner
Rebecca Garske
Lynette Gentle
Julie Giles
Wendy Gilson
Elizabeth Godwin
Carole Goff
Renae Golder
Carmen Good
Sally Goodchild
Joanne Gourlay
Suzanne Grabowski
Deborah Graff
Julie Grant
Karen Grant
Vicky Gray
Karen Gregg
Elizabeth Gregor
Suzana Grguric
Sharon Grocott
Sandra Grogan
Wendy Groom
Mary Guerin
Alison Guilford
Jane Gurrie
Bronwyn Guy
Samantha Guy
Sally Hackett
Jeanette Halgreen
Jennifer Hall
Julie Halliday
Noela Hamilton
Kerry Hampton
Karin Hanna
Sarah hannigan
Evelyn Hartmann
Jenny Harvey-Hall
Barbara Hawthorne
Gayle Hayes
Beverley Haywood
Sarah Hendrikse
Barbara Hensel
Maureen Hetherington
Heather Hicks
Karen Hicks
Annabel Higgins
Tammy Hill
Melanie Hill
Sharon Hills
Alison Hincksman
Tinsley Hines
Isobel Hinton
Melissa Hiscox
Jo-Ann Hoban
Diane Hoffman
Sandra Holland
Lynette Holland
Andrea Honeysett

Suzanne Hood
Stephanie Houghton
Dianne Howitt
Vivien Hughes
Susan Hume
Kate Humphries
Andrea Hunter
Charlotte Hurn
Susan Huxley
Jeanette Ip
Karen Isberg
Belinda Jackson
Helen Jackson
Joanna Jacobs
Lea Jacuta
Francesca Jankowski
Donna Jasper
Maree Jenkin
Joanne Johnson
Genene Johnston
Patricia Jones
Christine Jones
Deborah Joyce
Su Kyong Kang
Sophia Kappas
Sylvia Karagiannis
Charmaine Karey
Megan Kariotis
Barbara Keating
Elizabeth Kelly
Kerran Kennerly
Wendy Keogh
Christine Kerr
Natalie Kerrigan
Carol Kesson
Victoria Kidd
Maureen Kieran
Louise Kimbell
Karen King
Linda King
Leigh Klein
Wendy Knee
Karen Kucera
Suman Kumar
Carolyn Lally
Lynnie Lambell
Jennifer Lang
Seanne Lavender
Paula Lavery-brook
Leanne Lawler-Taylor
Debbie Lawson-Smith
Megan Lay
Kylie Le Strande
Miranda Lean
Debra Leaney
Fee Mooi Lee
Pamela Trudi 
Leembruggen
Sandra Legge
Karen Leggott
Claire Lenton
Jo-Anne Levine

Wendy Lewis
Nicole Lewis
Bronwyn Lewis
Sharon Liebenberg
Joanne Lindsell
Kelly Llewellin
Maryanne Lovett
Gai Lowrey
Karen Luttrell
Darlene Lyall
Aizza Mabborang
Leanne MacCulloch
Teresa MacDonald
Susan Mackinnon
Breanna Mackrell
Maree Major
Burtta Manning
Karen Mansour
Kristy Mant
Merril Manypeney
Jennifer Marano
Liane Markey
Monika Anita Maron
Bettina Marie Marsden
Merryn Martin
Bobbie Martin
Carmella Marzano
Robyn Mason
Trish McCarron
Julie Mccarthy
Rachel McClintock
Dianne McCormack
Joan McCormick
Virginia McCoy
Jan McCrea
Aileen McCubbin
Gae McDonald
Deborah McDonald
Sheena McGhee
Patricia McGill
Ruth McGlashan
Jacinta McGovern
Dorothy McGregor
Sue McGregor
Sharnie McGuire
Anne McHugh
Bronwyn Mcintosh
Renee Grace Mckeen
Sharon McKellar
Johanna McShane
Jill Mcvaigh
Marie McWhinney
Ingrid Astrid Mears
Emma Medwell
Marjolein Meyer
Matthew Middleton
Pauline Milanese
Amy Miles
Narrelle Miners
Kay Mitchell
Sandra Moffatt
Desley Monteverde
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Andrea Moody
Joanne Moore
Fiona Morton
Carolyn Mueller
Maryellen Muller
Helen Murtagh
Mardi Mylrea
Rani Nair
Kellie Naveau
Rhonda Neill
Judi Newcombe
Janine New-Tolley
Wendy Ngai
Sylvia Anita 
Nicholson
Debbie Nicol
Peta Niven
Colleen Nolan
Marie Norton
Libby Nugent
Eucharia Nursoo
Gae Nuttall
Anne O’Connor
Glenda O’Halloran
Lindy O’Leary
Lynda Olsen
Lorelle Omodei
Christine O’Neill
Susan 
Orchard-Barber
Mary O’rourke
Mary Orr
Monique O’Toole
Jennifer Owens
Andrea Packard
Roberta Page
Robyn Parkes
Gaylene Parsell

Jillian Parsons
Julie Parsons
Kerryn Pascoe
Debra Pash
Janelle Paterson
Anne Paton
Elizabeth Paton
Wendy Patterson
Amanda Pauley
Belinda Paulsen
Melinda Pavser
Susan Pearn
Leesa Penn
Jo Perks
Deborah Phelps
Angela Physick
Marie Pinder
Christine Pither
Jennie Politis
Christine Pool
Sally-Anne Popowski
Helen Potts
Susan Power
Louise Powers
Kim Poyner
Angelika Pratt
Juhel Pritchard
Alison Pritchard
Proctor Proctor
Lesley Pugh
Yvonne Quintrell
Julie Ralph-Flint
Joy Ramsay
Jayne Ramsay
Jennifer Ramsey
Karen Ratcliffe
Patrick James Reilly
Jane Reisch

Dale Reynolds
Margaret Richards
Katharine 
Richardson
Michaela Riley
Robyn Roach
Anne Robards
Sharon Robards
Janet Roberts
Judith Roberts
Debbie Robinson
Genevieve Rooney
Elizabeth Rose
Robyn Rowe
Kate Royds
Sheryl Rumball
Liane Rushforth
Suphap Ryan
Gerardine Ryan
Mary Ryder
Sandra Rymer
Therese Saba
Nikkie Salagiannis
Elizabeth Salleras
Janelle Salzke
Felicity Sander
Jane Sandford
Sandra Santis
Pamela Sawyer
Christine Schreiber
Dianne Schultz
Jacqueline Scott
Christine Seinor
Debra Semmens
Sonya Sewell
Suellen Shadbolt
Miriam Shammall
Kathryn Shanley

Helen Shapira
Carolyn Sharp
Carol Shaw
Elaine Shepherd
Nicola Shepherd
Janelle 
Shorrock-Browne
Melanie Ann Simons
Jann Simons
Sheila Simpkins
Michelle Sipple
Debra Skerman
Alison Slater
Barbara Smith
Jane Smith
Anita Smith
Kate Sowden
Judith Spain
Catherine Spencer
Joseph Spiteri
Deirdre Stacey
Julie Stafford
Pauline Mary Starr
Susan Steeles
Raylene Nicole 
Steinhardt
Kym Stewart
Le-Anne Stewart
Patricia Stocks
Helen Storer
Zakaria Storey
Margaret Sugita
Vicki Sundblom
Jennifer Sutcliffe
Lisa Suter
Lisa Taliana
Christine Tassone
Lina Tata

Leanne Taylor
Patrica Taylor
Judy Taylor
Jenny Teakle
Cristina Tejada
Gan Sek Teo
Joanne Tester
Diane Thomas
Suzanne Thomas
Debra Thompson
Dianne Thompson
Natalie Tibbles
Ann Tickle
Jacqueline Townsend
Belinda Townsend
Danielle Traynor
Marilyn Tremelling
Angela Trioli
Michelle Turner
Julie Turner
Bronwyn Turner
Lynette Tyson
Jennifer Unicomb
Nadene Van Asch
Anita Van Derpluym
Tina Van Manen
Christine Vincent
Vlatka Vrselja
Marina Vuleta
Leigh 
Walkden-Brown
Janet Walker
Trish Wallis
Allison Walsh
Linda Walters
Dianne Walton
Jade Wardrop
Shirley Anne Warren

Colleen Watkins
Pamela Webb
Tanya Webb
Suzanne Welch
Janet Whetton
Catherine White
Kataraina White
Robyn Whitling
Elizabeth 
Whittingham
Frances Williams
Cynthia Williams
Lorelle Williams
Tracey Sharon Wilson
Catherine Wilson
Elizabeth-Anne 
Wilson
Carol Winters
Judith Winwood
Susanne Wirth
Tanya Lee Woods
Maria Woods
Anne Woods
Lynette Wright
Sarah Wykes
Kylie Wyndham
Wei Yan
Kerry Ellen Yates
Melanie Yip
David Youds
Susan Young
Rosemary Young
Sonia Young
Michelle Zappa
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APNA would also like to thank our organisational partners for supporting the primary health care 
nursing workforce and sponsoring the membership of so many nurses across Australia. 

Organisation Members

Albert Street Medical
Angaston Medical Centre
Appletree Family Practice
Australian General Practice Accreditation Ltd
Awabakal
Ballarat Group Practice
Barrier Reef Medical Centre
Bogan Shire Medical Centre
Breed St Clinic
Brisbane North PHN
Brisbane South PHN
Cairns West Medical Centre
Calamvale Medical Centre
Capital Health Network
Centacare Catholic Family Service
Central and Eastern Sydney PHN
Central Bayside Community Health Services
Central General Practice Mansfield Pty Ltd
Cessnock Community Healthcare
CICX3 Family Trust John Stanton Practice Trust 
Wilow Family Trust
cohealth
Collins Street Medical Centre
Conder Surgery
Cooloola Coast Clinic
Coordinare
Cootamundra Medical Centre
Corio Medical Clinic
Correct Care Australasia
Cremorne Medical Practice
Crompton Medical Service Trust
Cunderdin Primary Health Centre
Cunninghame Arm Medical Centre
Daintree Medical Centre
Davpog Pty Ltd
Decran Investments Pty Ltd
Derby & Fitzroy Crossing GP Clinics
Dialysis Australia Pty Ltd 
Dianella Family Medical Centre
Dubbo Family Doctors
Eastern Melbourne PHN
Eastern Shore Doctors
Echuca Moama Family Medical Practice
Ferrers Medical Clinic
Firsthealth Limited
Gawler Medical Clinic
GMHBA Care Coordination Service
Gordonvale Family Medical Centre
Hamilton Doctors Pty Ltd
Hampstead Drive Medical Centre 
Hazelwood Health Group Pty Ltd

Health & Care Pty Ltd
Health & Wellbeing North Ward
Health E Medical Centre
Health HQ
Health Skills Australia
Hill Medical Services
Hills Family General Practice
Home Support Services
Homefront Nursing Pty Ltd
Hunter New England Central Coast PHN
Huon Valley Health Centre
Inala Primary Care
Independent Practitioner Network Pty  
Limited and Sonic Health Plus
Indian Ocean Territories Health  
Service Christmas Island
Investigator Clinic
John Parry Medical Centre
John Street Medical Centre
Joondalup Drive Medical Centre
Junction Street Family Practice
Kadina Medical Associates
Kardinia Health Limited
Kendal Street Medical Services P/L
Kookora Surgery
Langmore Clinic Pty Ltd
Langpark Medical Centre
Lighthouse Surgery
Limestone Coast Health Unit Trust
Lockridge Medical Centre
Loxton Health Centre
Majellan Medical Centre
Marsh Street Medical Practice P/L
Matthew Talbot Primary Health Care Clinic
Medical at My Centre Nerang
Mill House Medical Centre
Millbank Medical Practice
Milton Medical Centre
Modern Medical
Mossvale Medical Centre
Mount Martha Village Clinic
Murdoch University Health: Medical
MyClinic Group
National Asthma Council Austalia
National Health Co-op
Northern Queensland Primary Health Network
Northern Territory PHN
NSW Nurses and Midwives Association
Nurse Watch Pty Ltd
Ocean Family Medicine
Oigles Pty Ltd

Panaceum Group
Pangula Mannamurna Aboriginal Corporation
Path 2 Care
Paul Hopkins Medical Clinic
Phillipson Street Clinic
Pioneer Health
Plantagenet Medical
Primary Health Tasmania
ProCare Personnel (AUST) Pty Limited
Reedy Admin Pty Ltd
Regency Medical Clinic
Roxby Downs Family Practice
Rural and Remote Medical Services
Rusden Street Medical Practice
SA Rural Health Network
Scottsdale Doctors Surgery
Sertoli Services Pty Ltd
Shabnariz Pty Ltd
Shellharbour Medical Centre
Shepparton Medical Centre
Shoal Bay Medical Centre
Shoalhaven Family Medical Centres
South Street Medical Centre
South West Hospital and Health Service
South West Medical Centre
Southern Cross University
St Anthony Family Medical Practice
Sunshine Coast Health Network Ltd
Surfcoast Medical Centre
Swinburne University Health Services
The Benchmarque Group Pty Ltd
The Infinity Group
The Lismore Clinic
Toukley Medical Services
Ulladulla Medical Centre
Vineyard Medical Centre
Warnervale Medical Services
Warrnambool Medical Clinic
Wentwest Limited
Wentworth Healthcare Limited
Westcare Medical Centre
Western NSW PHN
Western Queensland Primary Care 
Collaborative Ltd
Western Victoria Primary Health Network
Wheatbelt GP Network
Winton Shire Council
You Yangs Medical Clinic
YSAS Pty Ltd
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APNA EXTRAORDINARY 
GENERAL MEETING
Australian Primary Health Care Nurses Association Ltd. 
12:30pm Saturday 17 November 2018 
440 Collins Street, Melbourne VIC 3000

1.  Welcome

The Chair, APNA President Ms Karen Booth, opened 
the meeting and welcomed members and guests.

Ms Booth paid respect to the traditional owners 
of the land that the meeting was held on, the 
Wurrundjeri People of the Kulin Nation.

2.  Attendance and apologies 

Ms Booth noted that the quorum for an 
Extraordinary General Meeting (EGM) under 
Rule 5.5 of the APNA Constitution is the 
presence in person or by proxy of 25 full 
members who are entitled to vote. 

It was noted that two members were participating 
by telephone, 14 were present in the room and 18 
were voting by proxy. No apologies were recorded.

The quorum was declared to have been exceeded. 

The meeting was declared open.

3.  Special Resolution

This EGM has been called in order to vote 
on changes to the Australian Primary Health 
Care Nurses Association’s Constitution.

The vote requires 75% of attendees or 
proxies to vote in favour of the motion 
in order for the vote to be carried.

The special resolution for voting at the EGM is that:

The proposed amendments outlined to the 
Australian Primary Health Care Nurses Association 
Ltd Constitution provided be adopted.

The vote was carried unanimously via a show 
of hands and counting of the proxy votes.

4.  Close

The Chair declared the meeting closed at 12:42pm.



APNA Nurse Networks are groups of primary health care 
nurses who meet on a regular basis with the support of 
APNA. Being part of a network means a nurse can:

Reduce isolation and expand professional 
networks, create social connections and 
access peer mentoring opportunities

Share skills and expertise, share  
education initiatives and knowledge  
to support lifelong learning

Apply current best practice principles, with 
time to discuss converting new knowledge 
into practice

Find peers to discuss everyday practice 
issues, collaborate with nurses across 
different nursing disciplines

There were 25 APNA Nurse Networks operating 
across Australia in 2018. APNA provides these 
groups with resources for the initial network set-up, 
ongoing marketing and promotional assistance, 
and advice on professional development. 

APNA NURSE
NETWORKS 25

APNA Nurse Networks

The following APNA Nurse Networks were 
operating across Australia in 2018:
 • Adelaide Primary Health Network Nurse Network
 • Bairnsdale Nurse Network 
 • Barossa Kapunda and Clare Nurse Network 
 • Bathurst Nurse Network
 • Brisbane North Nurse Network 
 • Coffs Harbour Nurse Network
 • Cohealth Nurse Network
 • Cowra Nurse Network
 • Dandenong Nurse Network
 • Darwin Nurse Network
 • Frankston Nurse Network
 • Great Lakes Nurse Network
 • Hobart Nurse Network 
 • Horsham Nurse Network
 • Hunter Nurse Network 
 • Ipswich Nurse Network
 • Knox Nurse Network
 • Lismore Nurse Network
 • Nepean Blue Mountains Nurse Network
 • Northern Adelaide Primary Healthcare Nurse Network 
 • Northern Sydney Nurse Network 
 • Port Macqaurie Nurse Network
 • Southern Adelaide Nurse Network
 • Tamworth Nurse Network
 • Tweed Heads Nurse Network

It has been interesting to watch the Nurse Network meetings evolve into these 
recognised and anticipated events. The learning topics are based on what the 
nurses have requested—wound care had 80 attendees at one meeting! 
A big positive has been the feedback on the local speakers (usually a local clinical 
nurse consultant), they get everyone on the same page with current best practice 
around their topic and have great knowledge on local health services. 
It’s uplifting to see the primary health nurses walking into the meetings. They are 
constantly hungry to learn and are such passionate advocates for their patients.
Marie Bottolfsen, APNA Member and Darwin Nurse Network member
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APNA  
WORKFORCE  
SURVEY 2018
Each year APNA undertakes an annual 
workforce survey through which we 
seek to understand primary health 
care nurses in Australia. In 2018, APNA 
Workforce Survey was supported by 
Health Professionals Bank,  we received 
a record-breaking 2,052 responses. 

APNA’s annual workforce survey is crucial 
to help us benchmark and understand the 
conditions and workplace issues that affect 
a nurse working in primary health care.

APNA Workforce Survey is the only workforce 
survey exclusively designed for primary health 
care nurses. It is fundamental in helping us collate 

Primary health care is the most 
professionally satisfying nursing 
l have ever done.

In my experience some general practitioners are 
reluctant to comprehensively utilise the skills of 
their practice nurse, as their ego dictates the 
olden day’s view that ‘the doctor is always right’.

the collective voice of nurses to develop evidence-
based policy and programs which will increase 
recognition of primary health care nurses.

APNA members most commonly tell us that they  
would like APNA to increase the recognition 
of primary health care nurses and improve 
working conditions within the profession.

For APNA to represent and advocate for nurses 
working in primary health care, we need to 
understand the capacity, conditions and 
experience of the workforce. When we’re talking 
with policy-makers and decision-makers, we 
need to have the evidence to prove our case.

APNA’s Workforce Survey also offers an 
indication of the average pay and conditions 
of nurses working in Australia.

This year we heard from 2,052 primary health care 
nurses across the country. APNA is so grateful to 
those nurses who took the time to complete this 
survey. Here is a snapshot of what they told us.

2,052
Primary health 

care nurses took 
the survey across 

Australia

I do often feel that nurses in some 
hospital environments underestimate 
our role and dismiss our concerns 
regarding patient care.

16



Who took the APNA Workforce Survey in 2018?
REGISTRATION

Average 
age of the 
workforce

GENDER DIVERSITY 

STATE

The survey was taken by nurses working across  
various primary health care settings including:

General practice

Specialist medical rooms

Correctional services/Prison

Refugee health

Community health – associated with acute health 
services

Community health – not associated with acute  
health services

Aged care facility

Community residential care, e.g. young disabled,  
group home

Aboriginal Health Service

Social services

Boarding house/Outreach to homeless

School/Preschool

University/TAFE clinic

Maternal and child health service

Drug and alcohol clinic

Workplace health centre

Mental health service/facility

Military medical facility

Palliative care service/facility

Telehealth/Call centre

Sexual health clinic

Non-government organisation

Primary Health Network

Research

Quality assurance/Project management

Nursing/Midwifery education

Management

Policy work

Acute hospital

Consultant/Contractor (self-employed)

Female Male

98%

2%

LOCALITY 

Capital city 
Other metropolitan centre 
Large rural centre  
Small rural centre 
Other rural area 
Remote centres 
Other remote areas 
Unknown 

Registered Nurse 
Enrolled Nurse 
Nurse and Midwife 
Nurse Practitioner

28%

27%18%

11%

7%

2% 4% 4%

49

84%

10%
5% 1%

21%

27%

28%

3%

8%

10%

1%
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Remuneration:  
What are primary health care nurses earning?

Average hourly pay before GST (AUS $)

Average

Registered Nurse 37.73 

Enrolled Nurse 29.42

Nurse and Midwife 38.18 

Nurse Practitioner 58.25

Let’s look at roles

Can be frustrating if I have 
attended courses and have 
found better or the right clinical 
way of doing things and these 
changes are not adopted. 48%

48%

3% 2% Increase in salary 
No change in salary or benefits 
Increase in benefits but not salary 
Increase in benefits and salary 

When the workforce asked for 
an increase in pay, what did 
they receive?

Activities the workforce would like to  
do more of:

1. Delivering health education to groups of consumers

2. Cardiovascular disease education and management

3. Women’s health (including well women’s checks,  
Pap smears, breast examination, menopause advice)

4. Asthma education and management

Activities the workforce would 
like to reduce:

1. Cold chain management

2. Infection control and sterilisation

3. Order stock/supplies

4. Working on front desk/reception

The average wage of nurses  
in primary health care has 
increased marginally across 
Australia to $37.18 compared  
to $36.66 in 2016.
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Members can access the full APNA Workforce Survey  
Report online by logging into their member dashboard  
at www.apna.asn.au. We hope the report inspires and 
supports our members—whether it’s negotiating a pay 
rise with your employer, deciding to increase your scope 
of practice, or simply knowing that there is a whole 
community of nurses feeling the same. 

The most satisfying  
part of the job

In the last 12 months 47% suggested to their 
employers/managers that they could undertake  
more complex clinical activities or extend their role  
in the workplace within their scope of practice  
out of which:

Satisfaction and other factors 

The most dissatisfying  
part of the job

Factors that impact a nurses 
ability to carry out their role

48%

28%

30%

Negotiated more complex tasks  
or an extended role

Employers/managers didn’t 
approve of adding more 
complex tasks or extending role

Stated other reasons for lack  
of change

Trust and respect in 
the workplace

The overall job

Level of autonomy provided

Relationship with other 
health professionals

Lack of time

$

Lack of financial remuneration Access to education 
or salary

$

Provision of benefitsLack of appropriate space

Wages/salary
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POLICY AND  
ADVOCACY
APNA is striving to become a stronger influencer of 
national health care policy for the benefit of primary 
health nurses and the Australian community.

APNA’s policy and 
advocacy action plan 
In 2018 APNA’s policy team worked with the APNA 
Board of Directors, staff, the Policy, Position and 
Advocacy Reference Group (PPARG) and other 
interested members to articulate a strategic focus for 
APNA’s advocacy efforts with regards to influencing 
national healthcare policy, which will ultimately filter 
through to impact local healthcare service delivery 
and utilisation of primary health care nurses. Under 
this plan, APNA will be advocating for primary health 
care nurses to be respected and valued for their 
vital role within the healthcare system, so they 
can actively support the Australian community to 
achieve good health outcomes. The plan contains 
the following overarching advocacy objectives to 
support our 4,000+ nurse members. These include:

 • To change the perception of nurses’ value and 
to facilitate the adoption of funding models 
of care delivery that support the optimisation 
of primary health care nursing practice

 • To improve the understanding and recognition 
of the role of primary health care nurses and 
to work towards improvements in recognition 
of the value of primary health care nurses

 • To improve the understanding of scope of 
practice to ensure optimisation of the nurse role 
at the individual, business and system level. 

There will be focused approaches taken 
to influence national healthcare policy 
with respect to these objectives. 

APNA submissions to 
public consultations
The APNA policy team made a number of submissions 
to relevant public consultations over 2018. These 
submissions have been developed with the aid of 
the APNA Board and staff, as well as with member 
input which has been encouraged via The Connect 
and other email contact. The policy expert committee 
PPARG has also been relied on to have input into 
APNA’s submissions. The following is a summary 
of the submissions APNA made over 2018: 

Australian Labor Party’s National Platform

In January, APNA responded to the Australian Labor 
Party’s request for comments on its health policy 
platform. APNA’s feedback focused on opportunities to 
better utilise primary health care nurses to alleviate the 
burden on the health system. Nurse clinics, workforce 
support, training, and career and education pathways 
were the key approaches APNA recommended.

Emergency management of hyperglycaemia

The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners 
(RACGP) and Australian Diabetes Society (ADS) consulted 
on their joint position statement on emergency 
management of hyperglycaemia, aimed at raising the 
clinical awareness of hyperglycaemic emergencies by 
identifying clinically important patient presentations 
and risks factors; and ensuring management of 
hyperglycaemic emergencies is optimised to prevent 
serious adverse outcomes. APNA’s submission to this 
consultation was made in February. APNA supported 
the development of the position statement but 
highlighted that multiple services and staff within 
services can be involved in the management of 
hyperglycaemia, and advocated that the statement and 
associated information should take this into account. 
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Patient safety and quality improvement 
in primary health care

The Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in 
Health Care (ACSQHC) is developing a national approach 
to support improvements in patient safety and quality 
in primary care. In February, APNA made a submission 
to the ACSQHC consultation on this topic. Overall APNA 
supports the development of National Safety and Quality 
Health Service (NSQHS) Standards for primary care 
services. Our submission listed the safety and quality 
issues experienced by primary health care nurses, along 
with potential strategies to address these challenges. 

Developing a National Strategic 
Approach to Maternity Services

The Commonwealth Department of Health consulted 
with respect to the development of a National 
Strategic Approach to Maternity Services, and APNA 
made a submission to this in June. This submission 
focused on the role and scope of midwives in 
general practice. It highlighted opportunities to 
better utilise midwives, and suggested a review of 
current funding models to encourage best use of 
the midwifery workforce in general practice. 

Senate inquiry into My Health Record system

The Community Affairs References Committee of the 
Commonwealth Senate conducted an inquiry into 
the My Health Record in the later part of 2018. APNA 
made a brief submission to this inquiry to register that 
we have long supported, and will continue to support, 
the development of a safe, quality, national ehealth 
record as part of an effective healthcare system. We 
also highlighted that primary health care nurses can 
play a key role in general practices and the community 
understanding the principles and value of the My 
Health Record, assisting with access, as well as cleaning 
and uploading data to the shared health record.

Pharmacist administered vaccination 
program expansion

APNA made a submission in September to the 
Victoria Department of Health and Human Services 
(DHHS) consultation on the pharmacist administered 
vaccination program expansion. APNA stated that it 
supports improving patient access to vaccinations 
across Victoria, and that whilst pharmacists may be 
appropriately trained to administer various vaccinations, 
APNA has some concern about some patient safety 
and quality issues under this approach. These include 
the suitability of the physical pharmacy environment 

To improve the 
understanding and 
recognition of the role 
of primary health care 
nurses and to work 
towards improvements 
in recognition of the 
value of primary 
health care nurses
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for the provision of clinical care, including the ability 
to provide access to immediate post vaccination care 
in an emergency situation. Further, APNA expressed 
concerns about the ability of this approach to allow for 
continuity of care. Questions were also raised about the 
cost of vaccination to patients under the program. APNA 
highlighted that primary health care nurses are often 
experts in administering vaccines and work in partnership 
with general practitioners in sometimes complex vaccine 
scenarios, with ready access to patient medical history, 
and hence advocated that the focus should instead be on 
better utilising this component of the health workforce. 

Registered nurse prescribing in partnership

Also in September, APNA made a submission to the 
Nursing and Midwifery Board of Australia (NMBA) 
regarding registered nurse prescribing in partnership 
with an authorised prescriber such as a medical or nurse 
practitioner. APNA supports the expansion of the model 
of prescribing for experienced registered nurses, arguing 
that allowing appropriately trained and supported nurses 
to prescribe within their scope of practice in primary 
health care settings is likely to reduce the pressure on 
Australia’s healthcare system and increase timely access 
to care and medications. However it highlighted that for 
nurses outside of the acute health system, there may be 
practical challenges with access to partner prescribers, 
and to the training and education requirements that will 
be required of nurses to be able to undertake prescribing, 
so the model should take this into account, especially 
since it is in the primary health care system where the 
benefits of this new standard would be most realised.

Potentially Preventable Hospitalisations 
indicator for general practice

This proposed Potentially Preventable Hospitalisations 
(PPH) indicator may be able to drive better health 
outcomes in patients of general practice. In its submission 
in November, APNA essentially supported this rationale, 
and also highlighted that we believe such an indicator 
may further drive innovation in general practice service 
delivery, toward improved integrated and coordinated, 
team-based care, to assist with managing the issue of 
potentially preventable hospitalisations. However we 
disagreed with some of the definitions contained in the 
report, e.g. the definition of general practice teams.

A full copy of all APNA submissions can be 
found here: www.apna.asn.au/profession/
consultations-and-submissions

Policy, Position and 
Advocacy Reference 
Group (PPARG): 
Matthew Middleton – Chair 
Julianne Badenoch  
Sandy Eagar 
Tracy Murphy 
Amanda Smith 
Julianne Crow  
Elizabeth Waugh 
Holly Robinson

APNA members who have 
contributed to the policy 
and advocacy plan:
Tracy Murphy 
Kristin Mile  
Elizabeth Halcomb 
Lisa Taliana 
Sharon James 
Lavanya Naidoo 
Caroline Gibson 
Christine Ashley 
Erin Kelly 
Sue McInnes 
Mollie Anderson 
Jennifer Garrett 
Carolyn Knowles 
Marie Bottolfsen



23

REPRESENTATION
APNA champions the role of primary health care 
nurses through providing representatives to external 
committees, projects, working groups and other 
meetings where it is important that the views of primary 
health care nurses are heard. APNA has worked hard 
over recent years to establish itself as the peak body 
for representation of primary health care nurses. 

New representation requests over 2018 have 
been frequent, and combined with longer-standing 
representation, there are approximately 60 committees, 
projects, working groups and other meetings that 
APNA has been represented at this year. These range 
from significant national and state government body 
committees and meetings on key health system issues, 
to specific projects or studies being run by peak national 
organisations, university groups and smaller community 
health organisations on specific health issues or 
conditions. APNA is also a member of a number  
of relevant organisations, which can include  
appointments to the boards of these organisations.  
A full listing of this representation is provided below. 

Representation is drawn from our membership, and 
APNA greatly values this contribution by members. 
Opportunity to be involved in the representation 
program is often advertised via APNA’s communications 
especially through the weekly newsletter, The Connect. 

Expectations of 
representatives:
Representatives are expected to:

 • Bring their expertise in and commitment to primary 
health care nursing to bear when representing APNA

 • Maintain a high degree of professional conduct 
at all times when representing APNA

 • Declare any actual or potential conflicts of interest

 • Prepare for each meeting by undertaking 
any reading as required, and by remaining 
informed about issues for consideration

 • Effectively represent APNA policy positions 
and maintain a current understanding of the 
environment in which APNA and primary health 
care nurses are operating, to encourage relevancy 
and responsiveness to pertinent issues

 • Participate fully and frankly in deliberations and 
discussions, to encourage a diversity of opinion

 • Demonstrate a willingness to listen to the 
opinions of others and to consider them, to 
foster an atmosphere of collegiality and respect

 • Provide reports to APNA regarding 
representation outcomes

 • Maintain and respect confidentiality as appropriate

 • Abide by any decisions made by the APNA Board 
of Directors, recognising and understanding 
that the APNA Board remains the ultimate final 
representative of the APNA membership base

Members who represented 
APNA in 2018:
Lisa Collison Rebekah Cox 
Linda Govan Rachel McKittrick
Lesley Pugh Jo Perks
Karen Booth Melissa Cromarty
Denise Lyons Helen Storer
Julianne Badenoch Kathy Goodwin
Jane Bollen Patrice Cafferky
Georgie Waugh Marie McWhinney
Lisa Stothers Leanne Laurie
Megan O’Callaghan Donna von Blanckensee
Jan Shaffarz Nicole McClure
Jayne Lehmann Lisa Clements
Sharyn Amos Prosper Sithole
Liz Halcomb Janet Sherrit



Organisations and bodies to which APNA provided 
representation for committees, projects, working 
groups and other meetings over 2018:

APNA is a member organisation with the following:

Australian General Practice 
Accreditation Limited (AGPAL) 

Australian Health and Hospital Association (AHHA) 

Brisbane South Primary Health Network 

Capital Health Network 

Council of National Nursing and Midwifery 
Organisations (CONNMO)

National Asthma Council Australia 

NPS MedicineWise 

Wentworth Healthcare Limited 

Commonwealth government and statutory bodies:

Australian Commission on Safety and 
Quality in Health Care: General Practice 
Accreditation Coordinating Committee 

Australian Digital Health Agency: My Health Record 
Expansion Program Steering Committee; The First 
International Digital Health Symposium 2018 

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare: 
Primary Health Care Advisory Group 

Commonwealth Department of Health: Australian 
Strategic and Technical Advisory Group on Antimicrobial 
Resistance; General Practice Roundtable; Health 
Care Homes Clinical Reference Group; Medicare 
Benefits Schedule (MBS) Review Taskforce; National 
Immunisation Committee; Nursing and Midwifery 
Strategic Reference Group; National Male Health 
Forum – Preventive Health Policy Branch; Roundtable 
to raise awareness of meningococcal disease, its 
presentation and the availability of vaccines 

Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research 
Organisation (CSIRO): Primary Care Data Quality 
Foundations Technical and Clinical Workshops 

Department of Veterans’ Affairs: Coordinated 
Veterans’ Care Working Group; Health 
Providers Partnership Forum; and the 
Rehabilitation Appliances Services Review 

State government:

Queensland Government: Queensland Clinical Senate 

Cancer Institute New South Wales: Cancer 
Screening Primary Care Advisory Group 

New South Wales Health: Cold Chain Education Module 
for immunisation providers, subject matter expert group 

South Australian Department of Health: 
Disease Prevention, Health Promotion 
and Population Health Committee

Rural Workforce Agency Victoria: Rural 
Workforce Victoria Awards

Victorian Department of Health and Human 
Services: Epidemic Thunderstorm Asthma 
Communications Advisory Group 2018 

National peak bodies and organisations focused 
on specific health conditions and issues:

Advance Care Planning Australia: National 
Engagement Advisory Group 

Australian College of Mental Health Nurses: Steering Group 
for Improving Social Connectedness of Older Australians 
project; Expert Reference Group for Projects on 
Workforce Development and Mental Health (Project 2)

Australian College of Rural and Remote Medicine 
(ACRRM): Telehealth Advisory Committee 

Australian Diabetes Educators Association: 
Expert Reference Group for the National 
Diabetes Nursing Education Framework 

Australian Health Professional Regulation Authority 
(AHPRA): ANZCCNMO/NMBA Registered 
nurse prescribing stakeholder forum 

Australian Hepatology Association (AHA): Hepatology 
Nursing Consensus Guidelines update 

Australian Hospital Healthcare Association (AHHA): 
Review of the End of Life Directions for Aged 
Care (ELDAC) for Primary Care Toolkit 

Australian Nursing and Midwifery Federation 
(ANMF): National Early Career Nurses and 
Midwives roundtable/working group

National Asthma Council Australia: Nurses National 
Advisory Group; Pharmacy Asthma Trial, “Getting 
Asthma Under Control” Expert Advisory Group 
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Health Informatics Society of Australia (HISA): 
Co-chair of Primary Health Care Stream for 
the Health Informatics Conference 

Health Workforce Queensland: Health 
Workforce Stakeholder Group 

Heart Foundation and Stroke Foundation: National 
Strategic Action Plan Advisory Group; National Action 
Plan for Heart and Stroke, stakeholder roundtable 

Kidney Health Australia: PEAK Committee meeting 
(Primary Health Education Advisory Committee) 

North Queensland Primary Health Network: 
Governance Reference Group 

NPS MedicineWise: Clinical Intervention Advisory 
Group; Choosing Wisely: Consumer Engagement 
and Activation Project; Primary Health Network 
(PHN) Immunisation Support Program Advisory 
Group; Osteoarthritis Expert Working Group 

Public Health Association Australia (PHAA): PHAA 
immunisation conference, panel session on 
No Jab No Play/Pay Panel discussion 

Royal Australian College of General Practitioners (RACGP): 
Shaping a Healthy Australia working group; National 
Expert Committee on Standards for General Practices; 
Project Reference Group for the National Guide to a 
Preventative Health Assessment for Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander People (with National Aboriginal 
Community Controlled Health Organisation (NACCHO))

Other projects and collaborations with 
universities, institutes and interest groups:

Australian Indigenous Health Infonet: Australian 
Indigenous Health InfoNet Meeting 

Australian Society for HIV, Viral Hepatitis and 
Sexual Health Medicine: Removing Barriers 
(HIV Stigma) Nursing Working Group 

Brisbane South Palliative Care Collaborative: Steering 
Committee for Caring Safely for Australians at Home 

Central Queensland University, Flinders University, 
Curtin University, and Council of National Nursing and 
Midwifery Organisations (CoNNMO): Systematic Review 
and Delphi Study on Early Career Specialisation for 
Nurses and Rapid Career Specialisation in Nurses 

Consumers Health Forum of Australia, George 
Institute for Global Health and University of 
Queensland-MRI Centre for Health System Reform 
and Integration: Thought Leadership Series: 
Primary and Integrated Care Roundtable 

Eliminate Hepatitis C Australia (EC): Workforce 
Development and Health Services Delivery Technical 
Working Group and Partner Investigator 

Exercise and Sports Science Australia: Exercise 
in Medicine Advisory Council 

Family Planning New South Wales: People with Intellectual 
Disability; cervical/breast/bowel screening project 

Flinders University: Palliaged Advisory Group

George Institute for Global Health: Stakeholder 
Advisory Committee for the INTEGRATE study 

Melbourne University, Phoenix Australia: Consultation 
Reference Group for Centenary of the Anzac Centre 

Queensland University of Technology (QUT): 
End of Life Directions for Aged Care 
(ELDAC) National Reference Group 

St Vincent’s Health Australia/University of New South 
Wales: Clinical Reference Group – National Centre 
for Clinical Research on Emerging Drugs (NCCRED) 

University of Notre Dame: Primary 
Health Care Reference Group 

University of Sydney: Steering Committee and Expert 
Reference Group, Quality improvement in primary care 
to prevent hospitalisations and improve effectiveness 
and efficiency of care for people living with heart 
disease (QUEL) NHMRC Partnership Project Grant 

Victorian Refugee Health Network, Foundation 
House: Project Advisory Group, National 
Refugee Health Resource Project 

Vision 2020: Vision Initiative Steering Committee
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NURSEFORCES 
RECOGNISED

A P N A  N U R S E  A W A R D S

Six incredible nurses were recognised 
the APNA Nurse Awards held in 
Brisbane Exhibition and Conference 
Centre in May in 2018.
The APNA Nurse Awards at APNA 2018 National 
Conference – Nurseforce for the Future celebrated 
the outstanding work of primary health care 
nurses who lead and inspire their colleagues, 
and stand out in their day-to-day work.

The primary health care nursing profession 
delivers exceptional care to patients every day. 
We pay tribute to the nurses transforming care, 
delivering initiatives that improve outcomes 
and widen access to high quality services.

An estimated 80,000 nurses work in primary health 
care out of 360,000 nurses registered in Australia. 
The awards showcase the significance of primary 
health care nurses to the community, and these 
nurses will act as ambassadors for your profession.

In 2018 awards included the Rosemary Bryant 
Award for a nurse who has made a long-term 
contribution through their work in primary health 
care nursing, the APNA Nurse of the Year, and the 
APNA Recently Graduated Nurse of the Year.

Finalists and award winners were presented 
their awards by Commonwealth Chief Nursing 
and Midwifery Officer Adjunct Professor 
Debra Thoms, APNA Patron Rosemary Bryant, 
and APNA President Karen Booth.

Rosemary Bryant Award
Chris Helms 
Canberra, Australian Capital Territory

APNA Nurse of the Year
Cathy Carrasco 
Carnegie, Victoria

APNA Nurse of the Year Finalist
Caroline Gibson 
Ballarat, Victoria

APNA Nurse of the Year Finalist
Margaret Crowley 
Binnaway, New South Wales

APNA Recently Graduated 
Nurse of the Year
Shangying Tian 
Perth, Western Australia

APNA Recently Graduated 
Nurse of the Year Finalist
Kerry-Lee McBride 
North Ryde, New South Wales
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APNA Recently Graduated Nurse of the Year
Shangying Tian joined Northbridge Medical Practice in 
April 2016 and has proven herself to be an excellent 
nurse. In May 2017, during the process of opening an 
associated medical practice Nova Medical, Shangying 
was responsible for setting up the nursing component, 
with three other nurses under her supervision and 
guidance. She demonstrated great leadership skills and 
completed her tasks in aiding the setup process as per 
requirement. This included being involved in writing 
very detailed nurse protocols and manuals, ensuring 
smooth running of the clinical component of Nova 
Medical, and supervising and teaching other nurses.

Shangying was also selected to be solely involved in 
the clinical component of the accreditation process 
of Nova Medical in December 2017, which helped her 
grow from a junior nurse to her current position.

Shangying has been influential in promoting the 
significance of general practice nurses and improving 
the working relationship between nurses and other 
health professions in the practice. Shangying has 
acted not only as primary architect for creating strict 
protocols and manuals for the practice, but is also a 
facilitator bridging the gap between doctors and nurses.

When asked how 
Shangying feels about 
being APNA Recently 
Graduated Nurse of 
the Year, she said was 
honoured by the recognition 
given by the APNA Nurse 
Awards’ panel assessors. 

“But the truth is that I spent a week 
sleepless and ecstatic to be nominated, let alone 
winning the award,” she added. “To be honest, the 
journey as a junior primary health nurse hasn’t always 
been easy. It has been a long learning curve with a 
high pressure working environment. There were days 
of laughter and tears, but eventually I am glad to reach 
a stable platform that allows me to look forward to 
my future and continuing career as a practice nurse. 
I was never alone in this journey. I know my mentor, 
colleagues and all other doctors have provided 
unconditional support and I am so grateful to them. 
The entire journey has been a learning experience 
for me. With winning the award, it makes me feel 
more enthusiastic, confident and energised to face 
any future challenges, whether it’s related to patients, 
medical practice or my continual career path.”

APNA Nurse of the Year
Cathy Carrasco is an extremely dedicated and 
experienced nurse. She has supervised and mentored 
junior nurses, student nurses and registrars. She 
has implemented procedures and protocols for 
administering iron infusions, and she has kept abreast 
of and adopted the latest techniques for wound 
care. At her clinic and at events run by external 
organisations, she has been an advocate for the 
importance of the role of nurses and invaluable 
contribution that nurses make to a medical community.

She is widely regarded as an extremely experienced 
registered nurse with a wealth of knowledge which is 
applied in her work with patients, on a daily basis.

Cathy has developed a comprehensive 
system for ensuring that care plans, care plan 
reviews and home health assessments are 
carried out with clockwork regularity.

In 2017 she initiated her clinic’s participation in two 
studies ‘Anxiety in Older Adults’ through Monash 
University and the ‘Cancer Screening in General Practice’ 
facilitated by the Victorian Cancer Council and HotDoc. 
Though both of these projects added considerably 
to her already heavy workload, her belief that these 

studies may eventually benefit 
her patients made her 
determined to be involved.

After attending many 
educational sessions every 
year, Cathy makes sure 
to implement some peer 
learning strategies for other 
nurses, general practitioners 
and administration 
staff. Her enthusiasm 
for continued education and 
learning is legendary at her clinic.

When asked how Cathy feels about being APNA Nurse 
of the Year, she said: “Absolutely fantastic! I am very 
humbled as there are many nurses out there doing 
really amazing things. I would really like to thank my 
practice manager and principal general practitioner for 
recognising my contribution to primary health care and 
nominating me for this award. I would also like to thank 
APNA for another fabulous conference and for choosing 
me as the recipient of this very prestigious award.”
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Rosemary Bryant Award
Chris Helms is a registered nurse and endorsed nurse 
practitioner working in private general practice. He 
received his formal training as an adult and geriatric 
nurse practitioner from the University of Wisconsin, 
based in the United States. He immigrated to Australia 
in 2007 and has since served on several national and 
international committees to advance the role of primary 
health care nurses and nurse practitioners in Australia.

Chris was an early member of the ground-breaking 
team that set up the nurse walk-in clinics in Canberra. 
These clinics provide free advice and treatment for 
people with minor illness and injury, an alternative 
that complements other services on offer. They 
have been incredibly popular, and see more than 
36,000 patient presentations every year.

Chris recently completed his PhD in Nursing 
at Australian Catholic University. His research 
is embedded into a larger project, called the 
CLLEVER2 study, which established and validated a 
speciality clinical learning and teaching framework 
for Australian nurse practitioner students.

Chris is also a sought after representative. He most 
recently represented primary health nurses on the 
Health Care Homes Implementation Committee.

A P N A  N U R S E  A W A R D S

Chris, who was “flabbergasted” and absolutely 
thrilled to win this prestigious award, said the 
experience was very “humbling”. He added, “I was 
just doing what I love to do and honestly didn’t 
think what I was doing was anything special. It was 
a vote of confidence that I desperately needed…
and has triggered me to think bigger and better!“
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E D U C A T I O N

Such was the energy of Nurseforce, an overwhelming 
majority of delegates reported that they left the conference 
feeling inspired, with a heartening 93% returning to their 
workplace feeling valued in their role in primary health care.

A Nurseforce for now
“It’s our turn for some spotlight”, declared young nurse 
leader Robbie Bedbrook, before taking a full auditorium  
by the horns, inspiring his peers to further their profession 
by influencing the narrative around nurses and finding 
their voice. By illustrating the poorly represented role 
of nurses in popular culture Robbie picked up on a 
common position pushed by APNA—recognition of 
the important role of primary health care nurses must 
come from within the profession, first and foremost.

In 2017 he took to the main conference stage as APNA’s 
Recently Graduated Nurse of the Year Finalist. In just a year, 
Robbie was a standout keynote presenter, epitomising 
how the conference provides a preeminent platform for 
recognising the important work of primary health care 
nurses, while shining a light on the challenges and enablers 
to better ensuring they are valued and utilised. He said:

“We are fundamental to a health system that works...
Nurses are hard-working, intelligent, evidence-based and 
compassionate professionals. Our voice is important and 
your opinion is valid.”

Drawing a spontaneous standing ovation was testament to 
retired Australian soldier and United Nations peacekeeper 
Major Matina Jewell who set the tone for the conference 
from the opening plenary with her keynote centred on 
leadership. One of Matina’s many lessons to resonate 

The theme for APNA’s 2018 National 
Conference—Nurseforce for the 
Future—was as much a call to action 
as it was a celebration of all that has 
been achieved by nurses working in 
primary health care across Australia.
The rising autumn sun in the Sunshine State gave 
colour to Brisbane’s picturesque South Bank river 
setting and the plaza level of the Brisbane Convention 
and Exhibition Centre which was filled with Nurseforce 
delegates eager to learn and connect with experts, 
like-minded peers and friends both old and new. 
The momentum around ‘Nurseforce’ was beyond 
what could have been imagined, working its way 
into the collective spirit of the group, integrating 
itself into the common language of delegates and 
punchlines of presenters, and finding itself trending 
on social media for the duration of the conference.

“All through our lives we need primary health care 
nurses, from when we are babies to when our parents 
are elderly. We may need them several times and we 
may need them urgently. One day I would like to be able 
to pick up the phone and say ‘Nurseforce please!’ and 
speak to someone who cares.”

Welcoming words from the enchanting, quick-witted 
and downright hilarious Jean Kittson. A trailblazer 
in the role of women and a public advocate for 
healthcare, the dynamo master of ceremonies regaled 
delegates to the point of laughter-induced tears with 
tales and tangents of her run-ins with healthcare 
providers across her life, in between laying out the 
roadmap for the action-packed conference program. 

Clinical updates and training across key and niche 
areas of health were enhanced by opportunities to 
network with colleagues within the sector including 
55 industry leading exhibitors, as well as personal 
development through sessions that challenged thinking, 
even inspiring change. One delegate commented: 

“It is a platform for primary health care nurses to share 
knowledge and experience. Most importantly, give 
each other a big applause for the great work they do. It 
really expanded my vision on general practice and I was 
inspired to achieve more in work and therefore benefit 
my patients and practice.”

APNA NATIONAL  
CONFERENCE
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with the group came from her decision to learn 
Arabic to give herself a sought-after skill to have 
a better chance of overcoming limitations on her 
leadership posed by her culture and gender. 

“Language skills made me a better peacekeeper and 
leader on a day-to-day basis. It was vital I did have a 
voice in those conversations. As a white woman, I would 
not have been invited into the room, let alone to sit at 
the table, without those language skills.”

Elizabeth Blucher was a nurse delegate acknowledged 
with an impromptu round of applause and mini lap 
of honour in the auditorium of the Friday afternoon 
plenary in honour of having recently entered her 
sixth decade of nursing. When asked, Elizabeth 
identified Dr Chrys Michaelides’ Chronic Disease 
Management and Osteoporosis session as one of 
the best CPD trainings she had been to because of 
the learnings she could take back to her practice in 
Kooringal in regional New South Wales. A nurseforce 
that leads the way never stops learning and evolving.

From updates to cervical screening, My Health 
Record, the latest in various immunisation (travel, 
adult, and meningococcal), nutrition, and end of life 
care were a few program highlights equipping nurse 
participants with practical learning to take back to 
their practices. Adding some advanced education 
in pharmacology, pathology and diagnostics to 
program for the first time was also well received.

Further, a number of presentations challenged the 
seemingly small, but significant everyday actions and 
adjustments that can be made in one’s day-to-day 
practice. For example, the call from young entrepreneur 
and outstanding keynote, Holly Ransom, to embrace 
the force that is social media—at the rates it is being 
accessed, any progressive movement seeking a visibility 
and influence can scarcely afford not to utilise it. 

“Social media is an opportunity to reach our patients 
and let them be actively involved in making good choices 
for their health and improving their health literacy,” 
echoed Nurse Robbie, founder of YouTube hit health 
literacy tool Hot on Health.

The magic of Dr Ruth De Souza adopted creative and 
interactive methods to foster an open environment 
where participants reflected on their ‘blind spots’ 
and how a ‘cultural safety lens’ can inform and 
enhance the care that they give. Lindsey Tighe 
empowered nurse delegates to open doors to 
better communication with their patients, teaching 
them to identify when and how to ask (the right) 
questions as opposed to giving advice or telling. 

This brings us to another cape-less nurse 
superhero, Lesley Salem. Of the numerous 

messages the enthralled audience took from the 
award-winning nurse practitioner’s impassioned 
keynote, perhaps the most poignant: 

“People forget the words but they remember how you 
made them feel.”

How the message is delivered is of equal importance to 
the message itself. Drawing on her broad experience 
working with Aboriginal medical services in remote 
communities and being the descendent of the 
Gringai-Wonnarua Nation in New South Wales, Lesley 
warned against threatening, paternalistic, hyperbolic, 
stigmatising health messages. Consulting and 
empowering patients and the broader community, is 
fundamental to holistic primary health care, she said.

“Bottom up health promotion involves everyone in the 
community dealing with it.”

The Nurseforce that we need
We were reminded by APNA President Karen Booth 
that nurses make up the greatest number in the 
health workforce in Australia, with primary health 
care nurses accounting for around one in eight of the 
640,000 registered health professionals. As the health 
landscape has shifted, so should the healthcare system. 

Almost serendipitously, Nurseforce for the Future fell in 
the week that the Federal Budget was announced, and 
there was no greater stage for the Federal Minister for 
Health, the Honourable Greg Hunt MP, dropping in via 
video, to pledge greater financial support for capacity 
building in the primary health care nurse workforce.

An update from Janet Quigley from the Commonwealth 
on Health Care Homes currently being rolled 
out was also highly relevant to the audience 
given the opportunities this funding model can 
open up for nurses by better coordinating the 
care of patients at the primary health level, and 
keeping them out of the hospital system. 

There was no greater example of the great outcomes 
that can come from the Commonwealth’s investment in 
the nurse workforce than the nurse clinics showcased 
across the conference program. The Building Blocks 
for Nurse Clinics panel was a standing room only, 
featuring four nurse-led clinics and drawing on the 
findings, obstacles and enablers from those sites 
supported by APNA’s Enhanced Nurse Clinics project. 

Tailored to service the particular health issue 
and/or cohort of the clinic, these models of care 
nurture innovation, service a proven need, operate 
efficiently and facilitate nurses working to their 
full scope of practice and in a lot of cases, lead 
to greater job satisfaction. It is no wonder that 
Meghan Campbell’s Teen Clinic has spawned 
multiple replica models in the Bega region.30



A Nurseforce for the future
Greater job satisfaction for nurses will of course 
encourage improved recruitment and retention 
in primary health care nursing to help combat 
predicted shortfalls. Models such as feasible 
nurse clinics are essential to bolstering the nurse 
workforce. As are other workplace cultures 
that enable nurses to work to full scope. 

As Major Matina Jewell espoused, the most effective 
teams need to have leaders at every layer irrespective 
of their official title, and the culture of the well-
regarded Kotara Family Practice seemed to embrace 
this approach. Well-regarded as a highly-functioning 
multidisciplinary team, the culture of the organisation 
empowers team members to play to their strengths 
and to respect each other’s work, and as such, nurses 
are performing to a greater scope than is often 
afforded or entrusted in similar settings. The practice 
has a clear purpose and is very values-driven. Nurse 
practitioner Denise Lyons attests that the values 
are more than words up on the waiting room wall; 
they are integrated into everyday work, behaviour, 
accountability, position descriptions, and reviews. 

Subject matter expert Melissa Richardson led 
an important workshop on mentoring—another 
fundamental system that needs to be in place for 
the nurse workforce to effectively recruit, develop 
and retain new and transitioning nurses.

A number of nursing students were amongst a 
full house at the Grow Your Career in Primary 
Health Care Nursing panel session, all participants 
were grateful for the practical tips and resources 
such as the My Nursing Future tool developed 
to assist in planning career paths available.

“I left the conference feeling enthusiastic and with a plan 
for my career. I see the role of a primary health care 
nurse developing into a unique nursing career that can 
suit my area of expertise and interest.” – Nurseforce 
delegate

Nurseforce by the numbers
Balmy Brisbane played host for the first time to a 
spirited contingent just shy of 600 delegates from 
across Australia and beyond. Nurse delegate Sung Kye 
Lee made the voyage all the way from the Indian Ocean 
Territories Health Service on Christmas Island to present 
an abstract on combined chronic disease care planning, 
while the well-regarded Dr Kirsten Meisinger from the 
Cambridge Health Alliance in the United States was a 
feature speaker in the Change Management Workshop 
put on for Primary Health Network (PHN) staff. 

The majority of delegates were APNA members, 
predominantly nurses from general practice, but 

there is a growing representation from community 
health, correctional health, aged care; along with 
midwives, PHN practice support staff, practice managers 
and primary health care academics, and policy 
and health promotion officers. It was encouraging 
to see a number of first-time conference-goers 
in the ranks (around 200 delegates) significantly 
greater than there has been since its inception. 

“This was my first time 
to attend this excellent 
conference. I came away 
feeling inspired and with a 
greater understanding of 
the value of my role in the 
practice team.” 
- First-time delegate at 
APNA conference

For three days in early May, 
the state of the art venue 
situated on the buzzing 
banks of the Brisbane river 
was the perfect setting for 

primary health care nurses to feast on up to 21 hours 
of professional development, comprised of 44 sessions 
delivered in varied and engaging formats, presented by 
130 plus leading and breakthrough peer educators.

A breakout room with a 100 person capacity was 
overflowing for first-time in Nurseforce presenter 
Rachel McKittrick’s 20 minute abstract on her research 
project exploring health workforce utilisation under 
the Health Care Homes model in general practice. 
No stranger to the big stage and having presented 
this particular wound care workshop for APNA some 
30-something times, nurse leader Cheryl Frank was 
incredibly popular as always, leading one participant 
to highlight it as, “the best I have been to as it not only 
looked at the wound care, but the whole patient”.

Now into its 10th year, the annual conference for nurses 
working in the various settings and diverse roles offered 
by primary health care lived up to its strong reputation for 
delivering relevant, high quality education program  
(92% satisfaction) in an environment that, again, 92% 
of the delegates rated as conducive to networking.

A Nurseforce for good
Nurseforce for the Future would simply not have been  
possible without the hard work, enthusiasm, creative  
flair and team spirit of many passionate contributors  
over the past year.

APNA extends a special thank you to Nicole McClure, 
Jeff Fuller, Jacqui Young, Helen Storer, Joanne Perks, 
Debbie Clatworthy and Michelle Thompson for their 
work in reviewing the strong cohort and record number 

Jean Kittson

Photo: Murray Payne
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of abstracts submitted. Jacqui, Nicole, Helen, Michelle 
and Jeff, along with Melissa Cromarty, Jane Bollen, 
and other valued members including Anne Matyear, 
Lesley Pugh, Rose Griffiths, Georgina McHugh, 
Mary Reynolds and Alison Oakes also played an 
important role in assisting with session facilitation. 

APNA has been the beneficiary of strong partnerships 
with a number of long-standing sponsors. This support 
enables APNA to keep the cost of our conferences 
accessible to nurses, and to have notably and 
significantly better value than comparative CPD events 
for nurses. Delegates are educated by area experts in 
sponsored sessions, while exhibitors offer learnings 
on cutting-edge resources and service, simultaneously 
benefiting from great exposure to 500 plus healthcare 
workers, and can survey their target market. Feedback 
indicates that exhibitors and delegates mutually benefit 
from the opportunity to engage with each other. 
Thank you to Nurseforce sponsors and exhibitors, in 
particular the support of platinum partner Seqirus.

With the support of a brilliant APNA Board and 
conference organiser extraordinaire duo Liz and 
Gary Baldwin, the small but spirited APNA team 
continue to punch well above their weight, working 
around the clock in the lead up, full of energy (and 
coffee!). Throughout the main event the team helped 
navigate any disorientated delegate; were up for a 
chat (about CPD, transitioning to practice, mentoring, 
online learning, career and education framework, 
setting up nurse networks, professional indemnity 
insurance, nurse clinics, and membership benefits); 
and handed out superhero capes to last minute 
sign-ups for Nurseforce Superheroes! Sporting a smile 
and always on their feet—setting up for Breakfast 
Sessions as the sun comes up, and giving the 
‘liveliest’ of nurse superheroes a run for their money 
tearing up the Stokehouse Q dancefloor well into 
the night—thank you to the APNA team dedicated to 
supporting nurses working in primary health care.

“I feel like I have found my tribe,” a reflection from a 
nurse delegate that APNA takes great heart from in our 
privileged position as hosts of the conference for 
primary health care nurses. We appreciate the 
significant investment that nurses make to attend and as 
such, work diligently to meet your learning needs, 
facilitate valuable relationship building and equip nurses 
with knowledge and motivation to continue progressing 
the profession. A lot of the energy and key messages 
have been carried into the everyday life of those that 
participated in the conference, one nurse delegate 
reflected:

“I grew in ways that I didn’t think I would. Attending the 
workshops was immensely valuable, I cannot express 
how much the group activities have helped me think 
about who I am and how I can improve myself.”

575  
DELEGATES 130+ 

PRESENTERS

20+ 
CPD HOURS ACROSS  
44 SESSIONS DELIVERED  
IN VARIOUS ENGAGING  
FORMATS

AGREED THAT THE 
NURSEFORCE CONFERENCE 
PROGRAM WAS RELEVANT  
TO THEIR ROLE

FELT INSPIRED IN THEIR 
ROLE AS A PRIMARY 
HEALTH CARE NURSE

OF DELEGATES WERE SATISFIED 
OR VERY SATISFIED WITH APNA’S 
2018 NATIONAL CONFERENCE 
NURSEFORCE FOR THE FUTURE

OF DELEGATES WERE 
SATISFIED OR VERY SATISFIED 
WITH JEAN KITTSON IN HER 
ROLE AS MC

88%

89%

96%

92%

OF DELEGATES WERE 
SATISFIED OR BETTER WITH 
THE KEYNOTE SPEAKERS97%

WERE SATISFIED OR HIGHER 
WITH THE TRADE EXHIBITION, 
WITH 89% RATING THE RANGE  
OF EXHIBITORS AS GOOD  
OR EXCELLENT

89%

Satisfaction rating

We believe meaningful action can come from the ideas 
and discussions inspired by our conferences, leading to 
greater professional fulfilment, visibility, recognition and 
influence for nurses, and improved health outcomes in 
the community. From the APNA team, thank you to the 
delegates for your contribution to Nurseforce  
for the Future—the primary health care nurse 
workforce is a force to be reckoned with.
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APNA ENDORSEMENT 
PROGRAM
APNA’s Endorsement Program recognises best practice learning within the 
context and scope of primary health care nurse education. It is designed to 
ensure that training and education offered to primary health care nurses is 
current, relevant, professionally delivered and includes formal evaluation.

APNA endorsed education activities and resources in 2018
Clinical Placement Program in Cancer Survivorship 
Australian Cancer Survivorship Centre 
– A Richard Pratt Legacy

Clinical Practice Workshop – The Late Effects of Polio 
Polio Australia Incorporated

Food as Medicine 
Monash University

Suicide Prevention for General Practitioners  
and Practice Nurses 
Wesley Community Services Ltd

Pre-pregnancy Planning and Care for Women  
with Diabetes 
Diabetes Australia/National Diabetes Services Scheme

Diabetes Care in the Community 
Department of Health, System Policy and Planning Division

Module 11: Quality Primary Care into the Future 
Australian General Practice Accreditation Limited (AGPAL)

Behaviour Change Workshop for Patient Engagement 
MediCoach

Understanding the Epilepsy Management Plan 
Epilepsy Foundation

AGPAL & QIP 2018 Conference 
AGPAL

Australian Refugee Health Practice Guide 
Victorian Refugee Health Network

Seasonal Influenza Immunisation: Strategies  
for Older Adults 
mdBriefCase

Travel Health and Vaccination Recommendations: 
Helping protect travellers from disease 
RDB Remedy

Refugee Health Assessment Template 2018 
Victorian Refugee Health Network

Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD)  
Nurse Workshop 
Lung Foundation Australia

HLTAHW027 Provide Information and Strategies  
in Sexual Health for Women 
Family Planning Welfare Association Northern Territory

Chest X-Ray Analysis 
Bundle of Rays

Infection Control Education Day Course 
Marjen Education Services

Hepatitis C Nursing: Introductory and  
Advanced Management and Care 
ASHM

Epilepsy Explained for Nurses 
Epilepsy Foundation
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The Unique Role of the Primary Health Care Nurse  
in Improving Patient Care in Type 2 Diabetes 
mdBriefCase

Comprehensive Course in Natural Fertility Education 
Wise Woman Business

The Unique Role of the Primary Health Care Nurse  
in Improving Diabetes Patient Care 
mdBriefCase

Mental Health Essentials: Advanced level training  
for practice nurses 
Australian College of Mental Health Nurses

Mental Health Essentials: An eLearning course  
for nurses working in general practice 
Australian College of Mental Health Nurses

Hepatitis B Nursing: Preventing liver cancer  
in primary care 
ASHM

Connecting Chronic Kidney Disease and Diabetes 
Kidney Health Australia

Connection to Chronic Kidney Disease: Nurse 
leadership in cardiovascular risk reduction  
Kidney Health Australia

Impacts of Chronic Kidney Disease in OlderPeople 
Kidney Health Australia

Understanding Chronic Kidney Disease: Aboriginal 
health workers 
Kidney Health Australia

Detecting and Managing Chronic Kidney Disease 
Kidney Health Australia

Melanoma: Epidemiology, Assessment and Diagnosis 
Melanoma Institute Australia

Continuous Glucose Monitoring Online Training  
Module for Health Professionals 
Diabetes Australia

The Advance Project Toolkit 
HammondCare

Management of Medical Emergencies 
Cynergex Group

Performance Coaching in Clinical Practice:  
Creating an impact in every consultation 
Australasian Society of Lifestyle Medicine
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APNA Online Learning continues to provide Australian 
primary health care nurses with current, evidence 
based, high quality education. APNA’s online learning 
program is designed to support and enhance nursing 
clinical practice, inspire leadership across nursing 
fields, enable APNA to partner and collaborate with 
leading health organisations in the development 
and delivery of education, and provide nurses 
with access to high quality patient resources.

The online learning format gives primary health 
care nurses the flexibility to undertake their 
professional development and obtain CPD 
hours at their own pace, at work or at home.

At the end of 2018, there were 9,691 users signed up 
to APNA Online Learning. The 180+ modules available 
on APNA’s dedicated online learning website provide 
access to more than 200 hours of evidence-based, 
comprehensive, relevant and high quality education.

The five most popular courses are:

 • Cardiovascular Disease Risk: 
Assessment and management

 • Influenza Prevention

 • An Orientation for Nurses New to General Practice

 • Solar Damage, Prevention and Screening

 • Pertussis

New and updated APNA 
Online Learning in 2018
An Introduction to Eyes

This module provides nurses with an understanding 
of the anatomy and function of the eye, the five main 
eye conditions, and an introduction to eye health 
and vision care. Nurses will use the knowledge 
gained through this module to provide a duty of care 
to all clients as needed in relation to eye care.

APNA ONLINE 
LEARNING

9,691
NEW USERS IN 

2018
Influenza�Prevention

This online learning course has been designed 
to provide nurses with concise, practice-based 
information to support the administration of influenza 
vaccines to individuals over six months of age.

By increasing vaccination rates, this program aims to 
reduce the burden of influenza in the community. The 
program is an interactive, 1.5-hour course and is ideally 
suited to nurses wishing to update their immunisation 
knowledge in preparation for the next influenza season.

The information contained in this course is 
aligned with recommendations in the Australian 
Immunisation Handbook, 10th edition.

Population Health for Nurses in General Practice

This module has been developed to strengthen nurses’ 
understanding of population health and encourage 
them to expand activities they undertake as a nurse to 
improve population health outcomes in their community.

After completing this module you should be able to:

 • describe how a population health approach 
can be implemented in general practice

 • understand how to gather and use data and 
information to support evidence based practice

 • recognise the importance of planning and 
monitoring population health interventions 
to identify improved health outcomes

 • reflect on opportunities and support available to 
expand population health activities in general practice.
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Palliative Care

This module has been developed to provide primary 
health care nurses working in a general practice setting 
with information and knowledge in understanding 
a palliative approach, practical strategies for 
implementing a palliative approach within a general 
practice and identifying where a palliative approach 
fits within the Advance Nursing Competencies.

The module will provide nurses with an  
understanding of:

 • The principles necessary for effective assessment 
and management of patients’ palliative care needs

 • Effective communication strategies in the context 
of patients’ responses to loss and grief, existential 
challenges, uncertainty and changing goals of care

 • Strategies required to work collaboratively with other 
members of the multidisciplinary team to effectively 
meet patients and their families palliative care 
needs; and understand your duty of care in relation 
to patients who require a palliative approach.

Conference recordings – Nurseforce for the Future

 • Adult Immunisation

 • Advance Care Planning: Can I Start the Discussion?

 • Advanced Nurse and Nurse Practitioner: 
Pathology and Diagnostics

 • Advanced Nurse and Nurse Practitioners 
Workshop: Pharmacology

 • After Hours On Call Nurse Practitioner Model of 
Care Working Sustainably at Seymour Health

 • Aged Care Advice Hub: Helping Older 
Australians Navigate the Aged Care Maze

 • Asthma Best Practice: A National Asthma Education 
Program Changing Primary Health Care Practice

 • Bone Health Consults

 • Cardiovascular Disease Risk Assessment 
and Management by Nurses

 • Chronic Disease Management and Osteoporosis

 • Clinical Care Coordination for Patients 
with Complex Mental Health Needs

 • Combined Chronic Disease Care Plan at 
Indian Ocean Territories Health Service

 • Common Travel Diseases and Influenza Update

 • Delivering Cardiac Rehab: The country access 
to cardiac health (CATCH) program

 • Embracing Change: How community 
nurses engaged with research

 • Expanding Clinical Training Capacity 
in Aboriginal Health

 • Exploring the General Practice Nurse’s Role 
in Delivering Primary Mental Health Care

 • Focusing on Efficient Models of Care 
for People Living with Epilepsy
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 • G’day Nellie! Using a New SMS System to 
Encourage Patient Self-Management

 • Grow Your Career in Primary Health Care

 • Health Care Homes

 • Health Promotion and Access

 • Hep B 1, 2, 3 Teach, Test, Take Control 
Hep B Community Mobilisation

 • How can Primary Health Care Nurses Aid in 
Identifying Nutritional Risk in the Elderly

 • How Can the Australian Indigenous 
HealthInfoNet Assist Nurses

 • How Do Registered Nurses in Australian General 
Practice Perceive Lifestyle Risk Communication

 • How Primary Health Care Nurses Can 
Step Up in Diabetes Management

 • Hypertension and Chronic Kidney Disease: Evidence 
and impact on primary health care nurse practice

 • Inclusion of Intrauterine Devices Insertion to Family 
Planning Nurses’ Scope of Clinical Practice

 • Increasing Uptake of Long-acting Reversible 
Contraceptives Through Nurse-Led Insertions

 • Indigenous Health: How the primary health 
care nurse can help close the gap

 • Initiating Palliative Care and Advance Care Planning 
through Training and Resources for General Practice

 • Investing in Prevention Primary Health Care Nurses 
Drive Cardiovascular Disease Assessment

 • Know Meningococcal: Everything from A to Y

 • Managing Diabetes and the NDSS

 • Meningococcal: Impacting all ages

 • More to Mentoring

 • My Health Record Expansion

 • My Health Record Update

 • Nurse Navigator North West 
Hospital and Health Service

 • Nurse Robbie Bedbrook’s keynote

 • Nurse-Led High Risk Diabetes Assessment

 • Online Learning Module for Nurses to Address Stigma 
and Discrimination towards Blood Borne Viruses

 • Panel: Multidisciplinary Team 
Performing to Scope of Practice

 • Patient Centred Model of Care for the 75+ Population

 • Person Centred Care

 • Primary Health Network Workshop – Part 
1 Team care for complex patients

 • Primary Health Network Workshop 
– Part 2 Quality improvement

 • Primary Health Network Workshop – Part 3 
Enhanced nurse clinics project learnings

 • Primary Health Network Workshop – 
Part 4 Human-centred design

 • Reducing the Impact of Anxiety in Later Life: 
Nurse-led Innovation in General Practice

 • Role of Nurses Performing Therapeutic Venesection

 • South Australia PHN Immunisation Hub

 • Screening for Adverse Childhood 
Experiences at Inala Primary Care

 • Supporting General Practices and Primary Health 
Care to Work with People from Refugee Backgrounds

 • Supporting Lay Carers to Provide Breakthrough 
Palliative Symptom Management

 • Teachback: a Telephone Communication 
Technique to Improve Patient Health Literacy

 • Teen Clinic

 • The Development of Nurse Network Meetings 
for North NSW and Mid North Coast

 • The Effectiveness of Outpatient Nurse Led Clinics

 • The Evolution of a Nurse Enhanced Dementia 
Care Service in General Practice

 • The Wednesday Room: Nurse-led clinic

 • Wounds: Dealing with healing

 180+
MODULES 

AVAILABLE

200+
HOURS OF

EDUCATION
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This year was another successful year for APNA 
events with 11 Foundations of General Practice 
Nursing workshops, four Contemporary Chronic 
Disease Management workshops, and four of our 
new Updates in Primary Health Care workshops. 

Close to 500 nurses come through our doors, and 
we are proud to have been there to support and 
encourage them in their primary health care journey. 

The two-day workshops, which are developed 
and delivered by experienced nurses and 
nurse-educators, provided an overview of the 
knowledge and key skills required by nurses in 
various roles in the primary health care sector. 

We received an overwhelming number of positive 
reviews from our delegates on the content of the 
workshops. There were opportunities to network 
and learn across the board, with the workshops 
providing an excellent space for primary health 
care nurses to meet and exchange experiences.

APNA furthered its reach by engaging with the 
Lung Foundation and the Australian Association 
of Practice Management (AAPM) to run several 
joint workshops in 2018, paving the way for future 
workshops and maintaining productive relationships.

FACE TO FACE 
EDUCATION

Foundations Of General 
Practice Nursing
In 2018, APNA ran 11 Foundations of General Practice 
Nursing workshops around Australia. The 2017 content 
underwent a complete review from our assessors 
and trusted presenters. The main update involved 
an overhaul of the Quality and Safety (Accreditation) 
topic, due to the updated RACGP Standards for 
General Practices (fifth edition) being released. 

The Foundations workshops attracted 238 delegates 
offering a diverse experience amongst the nurses 
which was shared across the two day workshops. 

Overall, feedback from the delegates was 
overwhelmingly positive, with almost all nurses 
indicating they would recommend the workshop to 
a friend or colleague. Further comments indicated 
that the nurses attended to engage with colleagues, 
advance or build on their knowledge of general practice 
and be updated on best practice in this setting. 

Past speakers, as well as new, were engaged in 
2018. Comments were that they were engaging, 
approachable and provided relevant information.

97% 
 238

ATTENDEES ACROSS

11
WORKSHOPS 

 SAID THAT THE MATERIAL 
MET THEIR LEARNING 
NEEDS, WAS VALUE FOR 
MONEY AND WAS RELEVANT 
TO THEIR WORKPLACE

OF FEEDBACK WAS 

POSITIVE
INDICATING THEY WOULD  

RECOMMEND THE  
WORKSHOP TO A FRIEND  

OR COLLEAGUE

THE MOST LOVED WORKSHOP TOPICS:  

98%

WOUND MANAGEMENT 

IMMUNISATIONS

E D U C A T I O N
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80% 
WOULD USE MOST 

OR ALL OF THE 
INFORMATION IN THEIR 

DAILY PRACTICE 

90% 
VERY SATISFIED WITH THE 

CONTENT PROVIDED AT  
THE WORKSHOP

 100% 
FOUND THE CURRICULUM 

INCREASED THEIR KNOWLEDGE 
AND SKILLS

 152
ATTENDEES ACROSS

4 WORKSHOPS 

Inspirational, motivational—gave me confidence/courage in 
my role, so much scope, sense of professionalism, knowledge 
which is empowering. I realised I can do everything and 
there is career progression in my areas of interest. 
Nurse at Contemporary Chronic Disease Management workshop

Contemporary Chronic 
Disease Management
In 2018 APNA delivered four face-to-face 
Contemporary Chronic Disease Management 
workshops, utilising the content that had 
been delivered in the previous year. These 
workshops received funding from the Australian 
Government Department of Health under 
the Nursing in Primary Health Care (NiPHC) 
Program (2015-2018). These four workshops 
marked the end of this round of funding. 

Across the two days of learning, four 
education topics—wound care, mental health, 
health coaching and spirometry—were 
provided to 152 eager nurses overall. 

Comments from nurses in attendance were that 
the topics were very in depth and improved their 
knowledge and skills. An evaluation of delegates’ 
thoughts after the workshops showed that a high 
percentage reported that they would use most 
or all of the information in their daily practice.
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 70% 
EXTREMELY SATISFIED 
WITH THE SPEAKERS

20% 

569
ATTENDEES ACROSS
18 WORKSHOPS 

Kate Russo presenting at Melbourne 
Foundations workshop in July

Sharon Walley presenting at Brisbane 
Foundations workshop in February

It really helped me to know that I not on my own in 
GP land and that on the whole I was on the right 
track. Being able to network with other nurses who 
had a wide range of experience was invaluable as well 
as what was clarified for me in the presentations.
Nurse at Updates in Primary Health Care workshop

Updates in Primary 
Health Care
APNA introduced this new series of half-day 
workshops in 2018. The half-day format worked 
well, and allowed flexibility in the program. It also 
included a diversity of topics, specific to each 
state that would engage the local delegates. 

The feedback has been extremely positive. The nurses 
commented that they felt empowered, loved the length 
of the sessions which allowed for a more detailed 
presentation, and as always the networking between 
presenters and delegates was invaluable. Engaging 
new speakers who have worked with us previously 
was worthwhile to build on our partnerships. Further 
to this, new speakers that have come on board are 
more willing to engage with APNA in the future and 
have all offered their services at future events.

WERE VERY SATISFIED  
WITH THE SPEAKERS

E D U C A T I O N
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NURSING IN PRIMARY 
HEALTH CARE PROGRAM
APNA is funded by Australian Government Department 
of Health to support two health workforce policy goals: 

1) Build capacity among primary health 
care nursing workforce by promoting the 
employment of and providing support to nurses 
working in primary health care settings.

2) Undertake reform and innovation in the primary 
health care nursing workforce, to better address the 
primary health care needs of Australian communities.

This work was carried out by APNA’s Nursing in Primary 
Health Care program (NiPHC) 2015–2018, which 
concluded in June 2018. APNA received further funding 
from the Department of Health for the NiPHC Program 
over the next four year period (June 2018–June 2022).

The NiPHC program aims to build capacity amongst 
the primary health care nursing workforce by:

 • Improving employment opportunities, recruitment and 
retention of nurses in primary health care settings.

 • Modelling the delivery of innovative, effective clinical 
care by nurses in primary health care settings.

 • Ensuring that nurses working in primary 
health care settings have the knowledge and 
skills to deliver best practice clinical services 
in priority areas of primary health care.

N U R S I N G  I N  P R I M A R Y  H E A L T H  C A R E

41

The NiPHC program 
aims to build 
capacity amongst the 
primary health care 
nursing workforce



TRANSITION TO PRACTICE  
PILOT PROGRAM
Launched in 2015, Transition to Practice 
was developed and implemented with 
funding by the Australian Government 
Department of Health under APNA’s Nursing 
in Primary Health Care (NiPHC) program. 
In mid-2018, the transition program ended 
its phase one helping a total of 52 nurses 
transition to primary health care settings.

Transition to Practice aims to increase the 
knowledge, skills, confidence and competence of 
both recently graduated and established nurses 
commencing work in primary health care settings. 
This was done through the combined influence of 
both professional and clinical guidance, support, 
and elements of formal education. The program is 
designed to be accessible, structured and flexible. 

Tranche two of the program was successfully 
completed from April 2017 to March 2018. It 
commenced following an expression of interest 
process and rigorous assessment against key essential 
and desired criteria. The program received 219 
applications from across every Australian state and 
territory, which were assessed by a selection panel. 
Twenty seven transitioning nurses were selected 
and matched with experienced nurse support. 
Transitioning nurses and clinical and professional 
mentors participated in a two-day face-to-face 
capacity building workshop held in Melbourne 
on 28-29 April 2017 to launch the program

The following are elements of tranche two 
of Transition to Practice 2017 –18:

Participants 
 • The transitioning nurse 

 • The workplace team

 • The external clinical and professional mentor 

 • APNA’s team of nurse consultants 
and administration services 

Model of Support 

WORKPLACE TEAM

TRANSITIONING NURSE

APNA
EXTERNAL CLINICAL  
AND PROFESSIONAL  

MENTOR

N U R S I N G  I N  P R I M A R Y  H E A L T H  C A R E
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TRANSITION TO PRACTICE  
PILOT PROGRAM

Evaluation of the 
program showed that 
participants valued all 
aspects of the program. 

Program elements
 • Mentoring: Experienced primary health care 

nurses provide clinical and professional 
guidance to transitioning nurses

 • Assessment framework: A responsive web-
based, self-assessment decision support tool 
is utilised quarterly, to enable nurses to self-
assess and evaluate changes against the learning 
outcomes of education activities, using a Likert 
scale 1-5, (1= minimal to 5= advanced) on their:

 - Knowledge: Knowing something with familiarity 
gained through experience or association

 - Skills: The ability to use one’s knowledge 
effectively and readily in practice

 - Confidence: A feeling of self-assurance 
and comfort, as well as being tested and/
or reaffirmed by other nurses, healthcare 
colleagues and persons accessing care 

 • Education activities: Core, priority and 
optional activities and resources provide key 
information around the elements of primary 
health care as established through ongoing 
participant and key stakeholder consultation

 • APNA nurse consultant, evaluation 
and administration: Access to ongoing 
support and program governance. 

Results
In 2018 transitioning nurses completed and uploaded 
their self-assessment framework four times, 
developed and enacted action plans in consultation 
with their clinical and professional mentor, and 
undertook identified education activities. Evaluation 
of the program showed that participants valued 
all aspects of the program. There was not a single 
standalone aspect of the program identified as being 
more important than another, all elements were 
equally valued as contributing to the nurses’ on-going 
development and transition into primary health care.

The transitioning nurses’ self-assessments and 
reflection of the program over the 12-month 
program demonstrated clear increases in 
knowledge, skills and confidence. 

We asked transitioning nurses, their mentors and 
their workplaces to rate the transitioning nurses’ 
knowledge, skills and confidence out of 10 before 
and after the program. Average scores before the 
program were 2.9, 3.2 and 4.6 out of 10 for transitioning 
nurses, mentors and workplaces respectively. In 
each case, the transitioning nurses, mentors and 
workplaces believed that knowledge, skills and 
confidence had increased after the program with 
average scores of 8.0, 7.8 and 7.4 respectively.

Next phase: Transition to 
Practice Program (2018–2022)
In 2018 APNA received funding from the Australian 
Government Department of Health to deliver 
another transition program under the Nursing in 
Primary Health Care (NiPHC) Program over a four 
year period (June 2018–June 2022). This program 
will support a maximum of 150 nurses, in a series 
of five small groups over the next four years.
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The journey towards a career and education framework for primary health care nurses.

NURSING  FUTUREMY
Supporting nurses transitioning to primary health care.

TRANSITION TO 
PRACTICE PILOT PROGRAM (TPPP)

HOW

THE RESULTS

© APNA 2018. Developed by the Australian Primary Health Care Nurses Association (APNA) and funded by the Australian Government 
Department of Health under the Nursing in Primary Health Care Program (2015 - 2018). 

APNA continues to support nurses transitioning into primary health care. 
Visit https://www.apna.asn.au/transitiontopractice  for more information.

Many nurses who transition 
to primary health care often 
feel isolated, overwhelmed 
and unsupported in their 
new roles. 

Over two tranches, the 
Transition to Practice 
Pilot Program (TPPP) 
looked at how a flexible 
and supportive program 
could support both newly 
graduated and experienced 
nurses transitioning into 
primary health care settings. 

52 Transitioning Nurses Over 160 individuals were involved 
with the program overall:

Overall program impact

82% Program completion rate

Knowledge, Skills and Confidence IMPROVED
as rated by…

“It’s been a terrific support to our Nurses that have 
participated and given them a more in-depth 

knowledge that is not always able to be developed 
within our clinics.”

“I think [the Transition to Practice Pilot Program]
was very valuable. I got a happy nurse. She’s happy
to learn. She’s happy with what she’s doing, how
she’s doing it. We feel confident she knows what

she’s doing. I think that’s invaluable.”

“[The most significant change to come out of the 
Program is] …my confidence. I now feel much better. 

Coming up to work, I know what I need to do, my 
planning is much better. And I really enjoy coming to 
do this, 'cause I feel as though I'm going to be okay.”

“…I don’t think I would be a nurse if I didn’t have that 
support from [my mentor] and didn’t read those modules  

that have come up [as priorities] in my Assessment 
Framework…I would probably be at Woolworths…”

Transitioning 
Nurses

Mentors

Workplace

2.9 8.0

BEFORE AFTER
51%

3.2 7.8

BEFORE AFTER
46%

4.6 7.4

BEFORE AFTER
28%

Still working 
as a nurse

Still working 
in Primary

Health Care

Said the TPPP program was
influential in their intent 
to remain working as a 

primary health care nurse

96% 88% 89%

General
Practice

Aboriginal Community 
controlled health services

Correctional health

Community health Aged care
52 Transitioning 
Nurses

49 Workplaces
(65 individual

managers)

52 Clinical and 
Professional Mentors

THE TPPP INVOLVED NURSES FROM A RANGE OF PRIMARY HEALTH 
CARE SETTINGS AUSTRALIA WIDE

APNA 
Support

Self-assessment 
framework

Evaluation Education Clinical and
Professional
Mentoring

Most Transitioning Nurses, Mentors 
and Workplaces were either very or 
extremely satisfied with the Program. 

Supporting nurses transitioning to primary health care
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Funded by the Australian Government Department 
of Health under the Nursing in Primary Health Care 
Program (NiPHC 2015-2018), the Enhanced Nurse 
Clinic project modelled the delivery of innovative, 
effective clinical care by nurses in primary health 
care settings. The nurse clinics intended to improve 
rates of screening/early detection/measurable 
improvement in chronic disease management 
or healthy ageing in target populations. 

Central to Enhanced Nurse Clinics’ success was the 
efforts of the lead nurses and their teams in being 
willing to test and develop their concepts over the three 
year project period with the support of APNA. Whilst not 
all nurse clinics were set to continue after the duration 
of the project, the learnings developed from their 
efforts contributed to a range of new resources. These 
resources, supported by an extensive consultation 
through a human-centred approach, provided clarity 
regarding the benefits of nurse clinics and a framework 
(the Building Blocks) for replication. The resources, 
freely available on the APNA website, will continue 
to contribute to the development of new models of 
nurse-led care in primary health care in Australia.

Interest in the project (particularly the learnings) 
from Primary Health Networks (PHNs), general 
practices, tertiary settings and other primary 
health care providers in the project was 
maintained throughout the three years.

Resources developed
On 15 January 2018, the APNA webpage 
launched the following components:

1. Building Blocks: Eight elements identified as 
essential components of establishing a nurse 
clinic, the Building Blocks are designed to 
provide a modular and replicable approach 
to establishing a nurse clinic (rather than 
attempting to create a one-size-fits-all model) 

2. Case studies: How-to guides on the process 
used to establish five of the project’s clinics. Each 
case study includes examples of how the clinic 
applied the Building Blocks and, the patient flow 
through the clinic [including Medicare Benefits 
Schedule (MBS) item numbers where relevant] 

3. Tools and Resources: Includes a combination of 
existing tools, templates, an interactive budget 
module and other resources developed as part of 
this project, in line with each of the eight Building 
Blocks. All resources are available for download.

Finishing in June 2018, the Enhanced Nurse Clinic 
project successfully delivered ten nurse-led clinics 
in metropolitan, rural and remote locations across 
Australia, based on local population health needs.

ENHANCED  
NURSE CLINICS
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The value of nurse clinics 
Being able to articulate the value of the 
nurse clinic was a key predictor for whether 
a nurse clinic model would be sustainable. 
Value was reflected in four key areas: 

 • Improved patient engagement and outcomes, 
reflected in better rapport and trust 
between the nurse and the patient, and 
the provision of care that is patient-centred 
and preventative, rather than reactive

 • Systems and processes introduced by 
the nurse clinic which increase efficiency 
and reduce duplication of effort

 • Increased autonomy of the nurse, 
impacting on job satisfaction

 • Opportunity for the nurse to take 
on a leadership role. 

Successful nurse clinics provide evidence of their 
value. By sharing their experiences, the nurse clinic 
sites contributed a wealth of understanding and 
evidence to support their uptake. The characteristics 
of success, the identified enablers and barriers 
for successful establishment and embedment 
of nurse clinics are now well documented. 

The Enhanced Nurse Clinic project was successful 
in achieving the aim of modelling the delivery of 
innovative, effective clinical care by nurses in primary 
health care settings. However, it is clear that support 
at a systems level will need to occur before we will 
see an uptake in nurse clinic models more broadly. 

The NiPHC 2018-2022 provides the opportunity 
to continue to develop and test new nurse 
clinic models and to showcase and provide 
opportunities to replicate successful models 
throughout the primary healthcare setting. 
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The resources, freely available on the APNA 
website, will continue to contribute to the 
development of new models of nurse-led 
care in primary health care in Australia.
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NURSING  FUTUREMY
Supporting nurses to deliver innovative, effective and efficient clinical care across primary health care. 

ENHANCED NURSE CLINICS
THE HEALTHY PRACTICE NURSING DEMONSTRATION PROJECT
 

WHAT WHY

HOW

RESULTS

© APNA 2018. Developed by the Australian Primary Health Care Nurses Association (APNA) and funded by the Australian Government 
Department of Health under the Nursing in Primary Health Care Program (2015 - 2018). 

APNA continues to support nurses in primary health care. 
Visit https://www.apna.asn.au/nurseclinics  for more information.

Exploring nurse-led models of 
care, based on local population 
needs, to demonstrate best 
clinical practice in primary 
health care nursing. 

Through an extensive evaluation process, we identified the key enablers and barriers that contribute to the successful 
establishment and embedment of effective, efficient and innovative models of nurse-led models of care.

Evidence indicates that nurse-led models of care such as nurse clinics, results in:

“Try and get yourself a team of supporters. So 
you've got people to talk to about it, bounce 

ideas off.” (Lead nurse)

“I think at a practical level, as we see more nurse 
clinics develop, there will be ongoing growth for the 

role of nurses within primary health care. (Consultant)

“Everyone is on board, keen for it to happen. 
So there are no structural barriers in the way” 

(Lead nurse) 

“I think it's not just about the nurse being educated, it's 
also about the whole team understanding the role of the 
nurse and understanding their own role in collaboration 

around the consumer's care.” (Practice Manager)

Clinics:

Individual level – the nurse

Resources developed:

Systems level

Organisational level

The “Building blocks” Page visits

A clear plan Funding

Staffing
and
HR

Location
and

facilities

Systems
and

processes

Best practice 
care

Patient
engagement

Evaluation 
and

improvement

2,500+ 
The Building Blocks

Case Studies

Tools and Resources

About the Enhanced
Nurse Clinics Project

917

526

299

184

Improved health
outcomes

11 
clinic sites 
supported 

over a 
24-month 

period

100+
key 

stakeholders
consulted

45%
located 

outside of 
major cities

Shorter waiting
times for patients

Decreased rates of 
hospital admission

A holistic approach
to care

VIC

TAS

NSW
ACT

SA

WA

NT

QLD

Kununurra Medical (Diabetes clinic)

Helping Hand Aged Care 
(Primary Health Nursing Clinic for 

Older People)

Bega Valley Medical Practice
(Teen drop-in Clinic)

Worrigee Medical Centre
(SKIP into life - chronic illness/mental health)

Ballarat Community Health
(Memory Health Support Service)

Carrington Health (Hepatitis C Clinic)

Companion House (Healthy Liver Clinic)

Barwon Prison 
(Men's Health and Wellbeing Clinic)

Bluestone Family Medical Centre 
(Cardiovascular Clinic)

Junction Place Medical Centre  (Wound Clinic)

Ballan District Health and Care  (Diabetes Clinic)

 “I would like to thank you for 
inviting me down to the medical 

centre for a check-up. At my age of 
45, we don’t think about coming to 
the doctor for a check-up. We think 
we are indestructible and nothing is 

ever going to happen to us. Well, 
my mum thinks the same as you, 
“prevention is always the best”. 
Once again, thanks for caring 

enough to get this up and running.”

 Patient feedback

Building blocks Case Studies Tools and resources
a flexible approach 

to setting up a 
nurse clinic

how to approach help at every step

and counting

Supporting nurses to deliver innovative, effective and efficient clinical care across primary health care.
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The project delivered education modules on 
management of chronic diseases and healthy 
ageing education for nurses working in primary 
health care, and wrapped up in June 2018 
after achieving the following milestones:

 • Delivering 36 workshops

 • 12 out of the 36 workshops (33%) were 
delivered in rural or regional areas 

Next phase
The workshops received further funding under 
the NiPHC 2018-2022 program and activity 
commenced in July 2018. This project also aims to 
support the professional development of nurses by 
providing evidence based, best practice education 
on management of chronic diseases and healthy 
ageing for nurses working in primary health care. 

Project outcomes include:

 • Delivery of 26 workshops (2018–2022) to ensure that 
nurses working in primary health care settings have 
the knowledge and skills to deliver best practice clinical 
services in the priority areas of primary health care

 • Education to support best practice primary 
health clinical care in the priority areas of chronic 
disease management and healthy ageing

 • Develop the capability of nurses to undertake 
planned, evidence based approaches to chronic 
disease management and healthy ageing.

CHRONIC DISEASE MANAGEMENT 
AND HEALTHY AGEING WORKSHOPS 

Chronic Disease Management and Healthy 
Ageing Workshops ran from 2015–2018 as 
part of the Nursing in Primary Health Care 
Program (NiPHC) funded by the Australian 
Government Department of Health. This project 
aimed to support best practice primary health 
clinical care in the priority areas of chronic 
disease management and healthy ageing.

Work in 2018 for this project included:

 • Project scoping and review: 

 - A scoping of the literature

 - A desktop review of APNA assets 

 - A desktop review of current continuous professional 
development (CPD) for nurses in primary health care

 • Development of a consultation and engagement 
plan: This document outlined how APNA would 
consult and engage with key stakeholders.

 • Execution of the consultation and engagement 
phase of the project. The consultation included 
the following elements and outcomes:

 - Nurses survey: This survey was designed to 
identify the training needs and preferences 
of nurses. It was taken by 756 participants.

 - Primary Health Network (PHN) survey: 
The survey aimed to assess PHNs’ support 
for nurses in primary health care, and their 
priorities for professional development in their 
local area. It also aimed to identify PHNs who 
would like to collaborate on a workshop with 
APNA. The survey was taken by 25 PHN staff 
members from 19 PHNs (61% of PHNs). 

 - PHN meetings: These meetings discussed 
implementing workshops in their region, and 
potential collaborations. Twenty two PHN’s 
expressed interest in collaborating on a workshop. 

 • A workshop content and delivery model was 
developed. It outlined a model for the Chronic Disease 
Management and Healthy Ageing Workshops. This 
model is currently being reviewed by Department 
of Health and will be rolled out in 2019.



49

The journey towards a career and education framework for primary health care nurses.

NURSING FUTUREMY
Upskilling nurses across Australia through targeted, face-to-face education workshops.

CHRONIC DISEASE MANAGEMENT 
AND HEALTHY AGEING WORKSHOPS

Nurses working in primary 
health care constantly need 
to update their knowledge 
and skills to support best 
clinical care in chronic disease 
management and healthy aging. 

Face-to-face workshops are a 
preferred learning mode of 
many primary health care nurses. 
 

CHRONIC DISEASE MANAGEMENT AND HEALTHY AGEING 
WORKSHOPS WERE DEVELOPED AND DELIVERED AUSTRALIA WIDE.

THE RESULTS

Major Cities of Australia
Inner Regional Australia
Outer Regional Australia
Remote Australia
Very Remote Australia

36 
Face-to-face workshops

500+
Nurses participated

AND WHAT’S MORE … THE LEARNINGS WERE USED!THE WORKSHOPS INCREASED NURSE’S KNOWLEDGE, 
SKILLS AND CONFIDENCE ACROSS THE BOARD 

WHAT PARTICIPANTS ARE SAYING

More than half of the nurses are using their skills 
daily, or weekly:

“Practicing the concepts of behaviour change that 
[the workshop presenter] discussed in her 

session has helped me develop the confidence 
and ability to assist the people I see with their 

behaviour change”

“Topics [are] always relevant and interesting 
Interactive sessions…”

“An excellent range of topics relevant to 
nurses…The speakers were engaging and obviously 

knew their stuff. The opportunity to network was 
also beneficial.”

“The workshop made me realise how important 
and powerful the nurse interaction can be for 

addressing the patient’s health concerns”

The workshops reached 
nurses from Albany 
to Alice Springs 

Agree Strongly Agree
Disagree/ Strongly Disagree/ Neither Disagree nor Agree

I was satisfied 
with the 

workshop

The workshop 
increase my 
knowledge 
and skills

The workshop 
gave me the 

confidence to 
apply what 

I learned

The workshop 
was relevant 
to my current 

workplace

99.3% 98.9% 97.3% 96.9%

Key content was 
presented in 
all workshops 
including (but 
not limited to): 

© APNA 2018. Developed by the Australian Primary Health Care Nurses Association (APNA) and funded by the Australian Government 
Department of Health under the Nursing in Primary Health Care Program (2015 - 2018). 

For more APNA events and education visit https://www.apna.asn.au/education 

Care co-ordination 
and Facilitating 

behaviour change

Mental Health 
and Aging

Wound 
Care

NeverInfrequentlyWeeklyDaily

57%

21%20%
2%

Upskilling nurses across Australia through targeted, face-to-face education workshops.
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CAREER AND EDUCATION 
FRAMEWORK
APNA finalised and launched the Career and 
Education Framework for Nurses in Primary Health 
Care in 2017. During 2018 the promotion of these 
frameworks (for registered and enrolled nurses), 
uptake and engagement with the My Nursing Future 
website, frameworks and corresponding tools and 
hard copy resources continued to increase.

Promotion and promulgation
Promotion of My Nursing Future has included 
the availability of both Enrolled Nurses and 
Registered Nurses Frameworks and online self-
assessment tools. Both the formal frameworks 
have been finalised and published in PDF 
format on the My Nursing Future website. 

Multiple activities were undertaken, including, 
publications in various journals, regular 
communication through APNA weekly e-newsletter 
and quarterly journal publication and conference 
presentations and exhibitor booths at primary health 
conferences. In addition, updates on the project and 
announcements through APNA communications, 
direct emails to the Primary Health Networks, 
magazine advertisements were undertaken. 

The social media channels were prioritised in the 
marketing strategy, as the framework and toolkits are 
digital resources. A significant effort was applied to 
developing and delivering a digital marketing campaigns 
through Facebook, LinkedIn and Twitter to increase the 
awareness and use of the My Nursing Future website to 
nurses and those considering a career in nursing. The 
specific objectives of this strategy was to create interest 
in and increase visits to MyNursingFuture.com.au and 
to promote engagement and use of the online tools 
available. The key message underpinning the strategy 
was that primary health care offers a diverse, dynamic 
and fulfilling career with ongoing opportunities to evolve 
professionally and make a difference to people’s lives.

This activity has continued past the closure of the 
project period due to APNA’s commitment to nurses 
working in primary health care and the desire 
to explore the long-term impact on recruitment 

and retention for the primary health care nursing 
workforce through a Career and Education Framework 
for nurses working in primary health care.

APNA plans to continue to expand and manage 
the site, supplementing the content with additional 
education resources and career planning tools.

Continued connections with stakeholders

Informal and opportunistic engagement with 
universities, tertiary education providers, 
Australian nursing organisations, employers 
of primary health care nurses, peak bodies 
for employers of primary health care nurses 
and Primary Health Networks continues.

International interest

APNA has been contacted by the NHS England 
Primary Care Nursing Lead and the Director of 
Nursing – Transformation to hear more about this 
work. In addition, contact has been made by the 
Professor, Division of Nursing Science, and Graduate 
School of Biomedical & Health Sciences Hiroshima 
University and by New Zealand colleagues within the 
Primary Public Community Health, Mid Central District 
Health Board and the Primary Health Care Nursing 
Integration Central Primary Health Organisation.

IN 2018 MY NURSING FUTURE HAD 

24,024 30,918 
SESSIONS 

105,476 PAGE 
VIEWS

USERS
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MY NURSING FUTURE

Some common barriers identified include: So we engaged with:

Research and reports from nurses identified many barriers
to the development of the primary health care
nursing workforce.

Key stakeholder 
interviews

53
Individuals Key stakeholder 

workshops

18?

??

?

AND COUNTING!

327
SELF ASSESSMENTS

22,000
WEBSITE USERS

2,514
COMPLETED CAREER QUIZZES

“...I believe this website could 
support career change...“

“There is nothing like this 
anywhere else, it is really good, 
different and new.” 

It gives nurses who are new 
to the workforce a guideline 
of potential options for their 
career. 

“It actually gave me a very 
clear idea of where I am at.” MYNURSINGFUTURE.COM.AU

all the Tools and Resources in the palm 
of your hand.

!

!

AN EVIDENCE BASED FRAMEWORK
FOR NURSES, BY NURSES

The Australian wide, multidisciplinary 
consultation developed:

Watch a day 
in the life of:
Nurses in various 

primary health 
care settings.

Interactive Career 
Quiz:

Match with suggested 
careers in primary health 
care nursing according to 
current values and career 

aspirations.

THE RESULT

Interactive 
Self-assessment tool:

Assess and benchmark 
current skills and how to 

progress a career in primary 
health care.

Career advice 
and artices:
All the tools and 

resources in the palm 
of your hand.

Supporting current and future nurses to grow their 
careers in primary health care.

www.mynursingfuture.com.au

The lack of an education 
framework to assist career 

progression

Issues with the perceived 
professionalism and value of 

primary health care nursing compared 
to nursing in hospital settings

Little or no career pathways 
within nurses’ organisations or 

primary health care settings

THERE WAS A NEED

The journey towards a career and education framework for primary health care nurses.

NURSING FUTUREMY

1,000

© APNA 2018. Developed by the Australian Primary Health Care Nurses Association (APNA) and funded by the Australian Government 
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Board meetings
Board meetings are held six times annually with at 
least two face-to-face meetings. Board Directors 
are expected to prepare adequately to attend and 
participate at board and committee meetings. 

Conflicts of interest
Board Directors are expected to avoid any action, 
position or interest that conflicts or appears to conflict 
with the interest of the Association. A director who 
has a material personal interest in a matter relating 
to the Association’s affairs must notify the board.

Karen Booth 
President

Holly Ransom

BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS

APNA Board 2018
The Board is made up of five elected Directors 
and up to three co-opted Directors.

Elected Board Members
Karen Booth President
Melissa Cromarty Vice President
Denise Lyons 
Helen Storer (joined in May 2018)
Christine Fuller (joined in September 2018)
Jane Bollen (term concluded in May 2018)
Ros Rolleston (resigned in May 2018)

Co-opted Board Members
Maurice Wrightson
Ken Griffin (resigned in November 2018)
Holly Ransom  (resigned in May 2018)
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O U R  P E O P L E 

Melissa Cromarty
Vice President

Christine Fuller Ken Griffin Maurice Wrightson Ros Rolleston

Jane Bollen Denise Lyons Helen Storer
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O U R  P E O P L E 

STAFF 
Alison Coughlin Program Manager (to August 2018)

Casey Mannix Membership Officer

Daniel Borg Program Evaluation Officer (to July 2018)

Danielle White Administration Support Officer (to December 2018)

Darren Carr Chief Executive Officer (to November 2018)

David Malone Chief Executive Officer (to February 2018)

Dinusha Nanayakkara Finance Manager

Emily Wheeler Project Manager (to April 2018)

Kim Cully Finance Officer

Jessica Loschiavo Professional Development Officer

Ken�Griffin� Chief Executive Officer (Interim)

Kirralee Daly Receptionist/Office Administrator

Moly Krishshanthan Finance Officer (to December 2018)

Lesley Pugh Project Officer

Linda Govan Project Manager

Lisa Collison Project Manager

Lorraine Bangera Content Writer/Publishing Coordinator

Matthew Hall General Manager, Member Services

Megan�Betz� Information Management Officer

Miriam Hagan Communications Officer (to September 2018)

Murphy Woods Membership Marketing Officer

Penelope Carr Receptionist

Rachel McKittrick Policy and Communications Officer

Rebekah Cox Senior Project Officer

Rosie Oldham Professional Development Officer

Sarah Holt Administration Officer

Sarah Lusink Project Officer (to May 2018)

Shanthi Gardiner Policy Advisor

Stephanie Hille Communications and Policy Manager
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COMMITTEES & 
VOLUNTEERS
APNA has a number of advisory committees. Members are encouraged to become part  
of these committees, which gives an opportunity to learn new skills, network with fellow  
health professionals and gain important CPD hours. 

Governance Committee
Melissa Cromarty Co-Chair

Ken�Griffin (resigned in November 2018)

Maurice Wrightson

Karen Booth 

Finance, Audit and Risk Management Committee
Maurice Wrightson Chair

Jane Bollen (term concluded in May 2018)

Ros Rolleston (resigned in May 2018)

Karen Booth 

Denise Lyons 

Helen Storer 

Editorial Advisory Committee 
Kathy Godwin 

Elizabeth�Halcomb

Anne Matyear

Jacqui Young
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PARTNERS
APNA acknowledges the companies that have partnered with APNA and in doing so have made  
a commitment to the development of primary health care nursing. The support of these 
partners significantly enhances APNA’s ability to deliver benefits to members.

O U R  P E O P L E 

Platinum Partner

Seqirus™, a CSL company, is a leading provider of 
essential vaccines, pharmaceuticals and diagnostic 
reagents. They have served Australia’s healthcare 
needs for over a century and today we operate 
Australia’s only onshore manufacturing facility 
for seasonal and pandemic influenza vaccine. 
Seqirus produces a range of unique medicines 
in the National Interest, and also in-licenses a 
broad range of paediatric and adult vaccines 
and specialty pharmaceutical products.

Community Immunity is an online immunisation toolkit 
proudly provided by Seqirus and designed for you as  
a nurse in primary health care to maximise adult 
immunisation in your clinic. Over 2000 nurses have  
now registered on the Community Immunity website  
www.communityimmunity.com.au. As a Platinum  
Partner they have made a significant commitment  
to APNA’s vision.

Organisation Partner

APNA’s relationship with Independent Practitioner 
Network (IPN) continues to grow. Through their 
support around 500 nurse employees working 
with IPN across Australia have membership 
with APNA. IPN also sponsors nurses to attend 
APNA’s national conference each year.
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The Directors present their report together with the financial statements of Australian Primary Health Care 
Nurses Association Limited for the year ended 31 December 2018 and the auditor’s report thereon.

Board of Directors
The following Directors of the company held office at any time during the year ended 31 December 2018. 

Name and 
qualifications

Experience and special responsibilities BMA Positions  
held

Karen Booth 
RN, A & E Nursing 
Cert, BHScN, GAICD

Karen Booth is registered nurse working in general practice 
and practice management since 1998. Karen has setup 
systems within in general practices, including nurse clinics, 
to help support a team approach to coordinated care. 
Karen is an accredited immunisation provider and regularly 
presents educational sessions for key nursing  bodies and 
Primary Health Network groups. Karen is a member of 
several committees and advisory groups for the Australian 
Department of Health, the TGA Advisory Committee on 
Vaccines (Ministerial appt.), the ACQSHC and RACGP. 
Karen is a member of the General Practice and Primary 
Health Care Clinical Committee of the MBS review.

7/7 Director since  
May 2009

APNA President

Governance 
Committee 
member

Maurice Wrightson 
Dip Pro Mgt, B. Bus, 
GAICD, AFAIM

Maurice held senior executive positions within Australia 
Post, at both a State and National level for over 15 years. 
During this time he successfully applied a broad range of 
leadership and change management skills to a variety of 
senior positions. He particularly utilised his strengths in 
change management, people development and profit centre 
management. He has 20 years’ experience as a Director 
and over 15 years’ experience as a Board Chairman. 

6/7 Director since 
Feb 2007

FARM Committee: 
Chair

Governance 
Committee 
member

Melissa Cromarty 
RN, GCert Nursing 
Practice (Emerg), 
Cert IV TAA, 
Immunisation Cert, 
Well Women’s 
Screening Cert

Melissa has worked in nursing for the majority of her 
career, with qualifications and experience in emergency 
and intensive care and general practice. She also has 
a thorough understanding of the challenges faced by 
primary health care nurses in both urban and rural 
settings. Currently Melissa is the team leader with the New 
England and Central Coast Primary Health Network and is 
involved in the support and evaluation of primary care.

7/7 Director since 
May 2016

Vice President

Governance 
committee: 
Co-Chair 

Denise Lyons 
RN, NP, BSc (Nurs), 
MEdu (Health Prom), 
MNurs (Nurse 
Practitioner), Cert 
IV TAA, ImmCert, 
Well Women’s 
Screening Cert

Denise has been a registered nurse for more than 30 
years and gained endorsement as a nurse practitioner 
seven years ago. She has worked in a variety of primary 
health care environments and has held clinical, managerial, 
educational, advisory, and clinical governance roles. As an NP 
currently working in the general practice environment and 
as a Clinical Editor developing health pathways, Denise has 
continued to embrace teaching and learning opportunities.

7/7 Director since 
May 2017

Helen Storer  
Grad Cert 
(Community and 
Child Health), 
Dip (Practice 
Management) UNE 
and Cert IV TAA

Helen Storer has been working the dual role of practice 
manager and practice nurse for 29 years in general 
practices and group practices across rural and urban 
within Australia. For the last two years, she has mentored 
four general practice nurses within the Transition to 
Practice Pilot Program. Under her leadership, her current 
practice is engaged in the Health Care Homes pilot 
program, the Staree Dementia Research Program and are 
about to complete their seventh accreditation cycle.

4/4 Director since 
May 2018

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
For the year ended 31 December 2018
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Name and 
qualifications

Experience and special responsibilities BMA Positions  
held

Christine Fuller 
RN, BAPPSC(N.
AD), MHA, MAICD

Christine is the Chief Nursing Officer at Correct Care 
Australasia (CCA), a private healthcare provider delivering 
primary health care to approximately 6,000 prisoners 
across 15 prisons in Victoria. Christine is a registered 
nurse with 35 years’ experience working in diverse roles 
in the public and private healthcare sector. Christine 
has been working in correctional health for the last eight 
years and has responsibility for clinical operations and 
policies, quality and professional conduct of nurses 
and chair CCA’s Clinical Governance Committee. 

2/2 Director since 
Sept 2018

Ken�Griffin 
BComms

Ken has more than 20 years marketing, communications 
and government affairs experience in the healthcare, 
not-for-profit and pharmaceutical sectors. He has held 
multiple leadership roles and directed high-profile 
campaigns for patient groups, industry organisations 
and pharmaceutical companies. Ken brings significant 
strategic capability to APNA and is a determined and 
passionate supporter of primary healthcare nursing.

5/6 Director since 
March 2013

Governance 
committee: 
Co-Chair 

Resigned 
November 2018

Jane Bollen 
RN Cert(CritCare) 
CertIVTAE 
DipAcct GAICD

Jane is a primary care registered nurse working in general 
practice, she is passionate about improving outcomes for 
people with chronic conditions through patient centred 
care planning and data driven improvement. She also 
works for BMP Healthcare Consulting, supporting general 
practice teams deliver safe and effective care. Jane has 
represented APNA in the Health Care Homes working 
group, My Health Record Expansion steering group and the 
Autism Spectrum Diagnosis Guidelines Steering Group.

3/3 Director since 
May 2016

FARM Committee 
member

Resigned 
May 2018

Holly Ransom 
LLB/BA

Holly is the CEO of Emergent, a company specialising in 
the development of high performing intergenerational 
workforces, leadership and social outcomes. In 
2012 she was the youngest person to be named in 
Australia’s ‘100 Most Influential Women’. She is also 
a popular contributor to the Financial Review, the 
Huffington Post, ABC’s Q&A, and Reuters. In 2016 
Holly was appointed to Co-Chair of the United Nations 
Global Coalition of Young Women Entrepreneurs.

0/3 Director since 
Jan 2017

Resigned 
May 2018

Ros Rolleston 
MN, BHSc, ICNC, 
Cert IV TAE, Imm 
Cert, WWS cert.

Ros is a hospital trained registered nurse and has 
worked in general practice since 2009. Ros also works 
as an undergraduate nursing tutor at University of 
Wollongong and as an educator in primary health 
care. Ros has worked on expert reference and has 
been a director at a regional Medicare Local and 
the Primary Care Diabetes Society of Australia.

3/3 Director since 
May 2017

FARM Committee 
member

Resigned 
May 2018

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
For the year ended 31 December 2018
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Corporate Governance Statement

The Australian Primary Health Care Nurses Association 
(APNA) Company Limited by guarantee is registered 
under the Company Act (2001). Ultimate responsibility 
for the governance of the company rests with the 
board of directors. Directors are guided through the 
Corporate Governance Charter (amended October 
2017) that provides a framework of reference. The 
charter aims to provide an overview of the main 
responsibilities and duties undertaken by the Board  
of Directors in fulfilling their roles in the best interests  
of APNA.

Role of the Board

The chief objective of the board is to maintain 
governance under its constitution, and ensure APNA 
continues to head towards its strategic directions 
through delivering operational goals. The board also 
monitor performance in terms of external and internal 
accountability and ensure legislative requirements 
are met. Fiduciary and other duties are upheld by the 
board in an environment of openness and honesty.

Role of the CEO

The CEO is allocated the appropriate authority, 
accountability, and responsibility to achieve the 
desired outcomes that have been specified in the 
operational plan. The CEO has day-to-day responsibility 
for the operational management APNA, and has 
a major role in leading the APNA team towards 
achieving the strategic direction given by the board. 

Risk management

While the board oversees the establishment, 
implementation and regular review of the risk 
management framework of APNA, it is the Finance, 
Audit, and Risk Management (FARM) Committee that 
identifies and evaluates critical risks threatening the 
achievement of APNA objectives. The committee 
monitors, reports on and makes recommendations 
to the board concerning areas of risk to the 
operations, financial management, financial reporting, 
internal control systems, accounting policy, and 
practice. The committee also briefs and supports 
the APNA Finance Manager and Auditor.

APNA Board Code of Conduct

The APNA Board commits to be ethical, professional, 
and lawful behaviour. It includes proper use of 
authority and appropriate decorum when acting 
as directors. In consenting to serve as a director of 
APNA, all directors are bound by the Code of Conduct 
they sign on appointment to the board and adhere 
to it throughout their term(s). The Code of Conduct 
provides a minimum standard and tangible evidence 
of commitment to achieving the expectations of the 
community and stakeholders. To read the corporate 
governance charter, log on to www.apna.asn.au.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the company during the 
year were to support a healthy Australia through 
best practice primary health care nursing.

Financial Overview 

APNA concluded another successful year 
with many financial achievements.

The net surplus of APNA for the year ended 31 
December 2018 was $154,029 compared to a net 
surplus of $73,806 in the 2017 year. Thereby increased 
its equity to $1,051,672 at the end of December 2018. 

Liquidity ratio has increased from 1.75 to 1.86 
providing better financial stability to the company.

Main income areas continue to grow and 
support the sustainability of the company.

APNA proudly continues to provide services 
on key priority health areas identified by 
the Australian Government Department 
of Health ( 50% of income) through: 

 • coordinating and conducting transition to 
practice programs targeting nurses new 
to the primary health care sector

 • building nurse capacity through the 
support of selected nurse clinics 

 • providing customised professional development 
programs to primary health care nurses. 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
For the year ended 31 December 2018
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APNA also witnessed an increase in its 
membership by 22% garnering more support 
from the primary health care nurse workforce 
(25% of income). APNA continues to enhance 
the value of membership through:

 • attractive and comprehensive 
insurance to protect nurses

 • providing priority support for 
members via Nurse Support Line

 • developing more resources

 • flexible learning (online and face-to-face)

 • networking platforms 

 • opportunities to participate in 
surveys and make a difference. 

APNA continues to achieve efficiencies and 
savings across our activities. Total expenditure 
for the year was $3.861 million which has 
reduced by $989k compared to 2017. 

Reflection�of�the�past�years�
(CY 2013- CY 2018)

Set out below is a comparative graph of  
growth of our organisation.

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
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Significant�Changes

There were no significant changes in the nature of the 
company’s principal activities during the calendar year.

Events Subsequent to Balance Date

No matters have arisen in the interval between the end 
of the calendar year and the date of this report which 
are likely, in the opinion of the Directors, to significantly 
affect the operations of the company or the results of the 
operations of the company in subsequent financial years.

Likely Developments

In the opinion of the Directors, there are no likely 
developments that will change the nature of the 
operations of the company.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors  
of the Board.

Karen Booth 
President

Maurice Wrightson 
Director

Dated 25 March 2019

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
For the year ended 31 December 2018
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We, Ms Karen Booth and Mr Maurice Wrightson, being board members of Australian Primary Health Care 
Nurses Association Company Limited by Guarantee, certify that:

1. The statements attached to this certificate give true and fair view of the financial position of Australian 
Primary Health Care Nurses Association Limited as at 31 December 2018 and of its performance for the 
financial year ended on that date;

2. The statements attached to this certificate comply with the Corporations Act 2001, the Australian 
Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements, the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Act 2012 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements; and 

3. At the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay 
its debts as and when they fall due.

This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to section  
295(5) (a) of the Corporations Act 2001 and is signed for and on behalf of the Board by:

 

Karen Booth Maurice Wrightson 
President Director

Dated 25 March 2019

RESPONSIBLE ENTITIES DECLARATION
For the year ended 31 December 2018
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the year ended 31 December 2018

Notes 2018 2017 
$ $

REVENUE  

Membership income 963,839 772,380
Grant income 2 2,018,652 3,040,728
National conference and award income 561,217 591,142
Professional services income 3 285,586 315,365
Media and advertising income 109,653 130,566
Interest income 25,735 28,872
Other income 50,927 45,681

4,015,609 4,924,734
EXPENSE  
Employee expense (1,313,564)  (1,519,087)
Key Management Personal & Board expense (504,661)  (496,858)
Other Grant expense (609,284)  (1,474,304)
National conference and award expense (438,099)  (430,611)
Professional services expense (235,301)  (211,813)
Media and advertising expense (65,866)  (56,768)
Depreciation expense (36,646)  (42,653)
Finance expense (28,922)  (24,565)
Marketing expense (98,104)  (102,310)
Administration expense 4 (531,133)  (491,959)

(3,861,580)  (4,850,928)
 

Current year surplus before income tax 154,029 73,806
 

Income Tax expense  –  – 
  
Current year surplus for the year 154,029 73,806

 
Other comprehensive income  –  – 

 
Total comprehensive income for the year  
attributable to members of the entity 154,029 73,806

The above statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes
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Notes 2018 2017
 $  $ 

Current assets  

Cash and cash equivalents 5 677,559 774,569
Trade and other receivables 6 280,822 140,672
Prepayments 7 73,620 60,634
Financial asset 8 1,217,150 1,042,588
Total current assets 2,249,151 2,018,463

Non-current assets  
Property, plant and equipment 9 34,928 23,830
Intangible asset 10 65,184 86,484
Bond 17,525 17,525
Total non-current assets 117,637 127,839
Total assets 2,366,788 2,146,302

Current liability  
Trade and other payables 11 360,019 419,311
Grants in advance 12 657,025 552,888
Provisions 13 156,666 152,287
Total current liabilities 1,173,710 1,124,486

Non-current liability  
Financial Liability 117,150 106,500
Provisions 13 24,256 17,673
Total Non-current liabilities 141,406 124,173
Total liabilities 1,315,116 1,248,659

 
Net assets 1,051,672 897,643

Equity  
Reserves 14 1,051,672 897,643
Total Equity 1,051,672 897,643

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
For the year ended 31 December 2018
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Retained Surplus Total Equity
$ $

Balance at 1 January 2017  823,837  823,837 
Comprehensive income  

Net surplus for the year  73,806  73,806 
Total Comprehensive Income  73,806  73,806 
Balance at 31 December 2017  897,643  897,643 

 

Balance at 1 January 2018  897,643  897,643 
Comprehensive Income  

Net surplus for the year  154,029  154,029 
Other comprehensive income  

Total comprehensive income  154,029  154,029 
Balance at 31 December 2018  1,051,672  1,051,672 

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2018

Notes 2018 2017
Cash�flow�from�operating�activities  $  $ 

Receipts from members 902,168 715,276 
Government grants received 2,122,789 2,354,052 
Other receipts 932,542 1,065,655 
Payments to suppliers and employees (3,875,287) (4,702,628) 
Net cash flows from operating activities 15 (b) 82,212 (567,645) 
Cash�flow�from�investing�activities  
Payments for property, plant and equipment (28,466) (46,288) 
(Cash paid)/ Cash received from investments (174,562) 320,180
Interest received 22,095 35,800 
Net cash flows from investing activities (180,933) 309,392 
Cash�flow�from�financing�activities  
Cash received from borrowings 10,650 35,500 
Interest paid on borrowings (8,939) (8,227) 
Net cash flows from financing activities 1,711 27,273 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held (97,010) (230,980) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the calendar year 774,569 1,005,249 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the calendar year 15(a) 677,559 774,269 

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2018
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Note�1:�Summary�of�significant�accounting�policies

Basis of preparation

The financial statements are general purpose financial 
statements that have been prepared in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced 
Disclosure Requirements and Interpretations issued 
by the Australian Accounting Standards Board 
(AASB), the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Act 2012 and the Corporations Act 2001, 
as appropriate for not-for-profit oriented entities. The 
company is a not-for-profit entity for financial reporting 
purposes under Australian Accounting Standards.

The company has adopted all of the new or amended 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) that are 
mandatory for the current reporting period. Material 
accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the 
financial statements are presented below and have 
been consistently applied unless stated otherwise.

The financial statements have been prepared 
on an accruals basis and are based on historic 
costs, which do not take into account changing 
money values or, except where specifically stated, 
current valuations of non current assets.

The financial statements were authorised for 
issue on 25th March 2019 by the APNA Board.

The following significant accounting policies, 
which are consistent with previous period 
unless otherwise stated, have been adopted in 
the preparation of the financial statement.

a) Income Tax

The company does not provide for income tax as 
it is a charitable institution in terms of subsection 
50-5 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997, as 
amended, it is exempt from paying income tax.

b) Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost 
less accumulated depreciation. Historical cost 
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to 
the acquisition of the items. Assets purchased for 
consideration greater than $300 are capitalised.

The depreciable amount of all property, plant 
& equipment is depreciated over the useful 
lives of the assets to the company commencing 
from the time the asset is held ready for use. 
Project assets are depreciated over the life of 
the project using the straight line method.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 December 2018

An item of property, plant and equipment is 
derecognised upon disposal or when there is no 
future economic benefit to the company. Gains 
and losses between the carrying amount and the 
disposal proceeds are taken to profit or loss.

c) Intangible Assets

Intangible assets acquired are initially recognised at cost. 
Finite life intangible assets are subsequently measured at 
cost less amortisation and any impairment. The method 
and useful life of intangible assets are reviewed annually.

d) Impairment of non-current assets

At the end of each reporting period, the entity 
reviews the carrying value of its tangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those 
assets have been impaired. If such an indication 
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being 
the higher of the assets fair value less costs to sell 
and value in use, is compared to the assets carrying 
value. Any excess of the assets carrying value over its 
recoverable amount is expensed to the statement of 
profit and loss and other comprehensive income.

e) Trade and Other payables 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and 
services provided to the company prior to the 
end of the calendar year and which are unpaid. 
Due to their short-term nature they are measured 
at amortised cost and are not discounted. 

f) Employee�benefits

Short-term employee benefits: 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits, annual leave and long service 
leave expected to be settled wholly within 12 months 
of the reporting date are measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

Other long-term employee benefits 
The liability for annual leave and long service leave 
not expected to be settled within 12 months of the 
reporting date are measured at the present value of 
expected future payments to be made in respect of 
services provided by employees up to the reporting 
date. Consideration is given to expected future wage 
and salary levels, experience of employee departures 
and periods of service. Expected future payments 
are discounted using market yields at the reporting 
date on national government bonds with terms 
to maturity and currency that match, as closely as 
possible, the estimated future cash outflows.



67

A U S T R A L I A N  P R I M A R Y  H E A L T H  C A R E  N U R S E S  A S S O C I A T I O N  L T D 
A B N  3 0  3 9 0  0 4 1  2 1 0

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 December 2018

Defined contribution superannuation expense: 
Contributions to defined contribution 
superannuation plans are expensed in the 
period in which they are incurred.

g) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, 
deposits held at call with banks and other short-term 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of 
three months or less that are readily convertible 
to known amounts of cash and which are subject 
to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

h) Revenue and Other Income

Revenue from specific purpose grants is recognised as 
the services are provided and the funding agreement 
requirements satisfied. Revenue from rendering 
of services is recognised upon the delivery of the 
services to customers. Revenue from membership 
is identified when the payments are received. Other 
revenue is recognised when it is received or when 
the right to receive payment is established. Interest 
revenue is recognised when the interest is received in 
the bank account or right to receive is established. 

All revenue is stated net of the amount 
of goods and services tax (GST).

i) Goods and services tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net 
of the amount of GST, except where the amount of 
GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian 
Taxation Office (ATO). Receivables and payables are 
stated inclusive of GST receivable or payable. The 
net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable 
to, the ATO is included with other receivables or 
payables in the statement of financial position.

j) Financial assets

The company currently holds Term Deposits which 
are Held- to- Maturity (HTM) financial assets. HTM 
financial assets are initially recognised at fair value 
plus transaction costs and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

HTM financial assets are included in non-current 
assets, except for those which are expected to 
mature within 12 months after reporting date.

k) Comparative�figures

When required by accounting standards, comparative 
figures have been adjusted to conform to changes 
in presentation in the current calendar year. 

l) Critical accounting judgements, 
estimates and assumptions

The Directors evaluate estimates and judgements 
incorporated into the financial statements based 
on historical knowledge and best available current 
information. Estimates assume a reasonable 
expectation of future events and are based on 
current trends and economic data, obtained 
both externally and within the company.

Impairment: The company assesses impairment 
at the end of each reporting period by evaluation 
of conditions and events specific to the company 
that may be indicative of impairment triggers. 
Recoverable amounts of relevant assets are 
reassessed using value-in-use calculations which 
incorporate various key assumptions. No Impairment 
has been recognised in respect of assets.

Provision for impairment of receivables: Included 
in trade receivables at the end of the reporting 
period are amounts receivable from trade 
debtors. The Board believes that the full amount 
may not be able to recover and a doubtful debt 
provision has been made at 31 December 2018.

Employment Benefit provision: The liability for 
the employee benefits toward annual leave 
is expected to settle within 12 months.

m) New, revised or amended Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations adopted

The company has adopted all of the new, revised or 
amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations 
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (AASB) that are mandatory for the current 
reporting period. Any new, revised or amending 
Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are 
not yet mandatory have not been early adopted. 
Any significant impact on the accounting policies of 
the company from the adoption of these Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations are disclosed below. 

The following Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations are most relevant to the company:

 • AASB 9 Financial instruments

This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The standard 
replaces all previous versions of AASB 9 and completes 
the project to replace IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement requirements 
that relate to the recognition, classification and 
measurement of financial assets and financial 
liabilities, de-recognition of financial instruments and 
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impairment of financial assets ‘. Under this standard, 
financial assets, including debtors, are to be recognised 
on an “expected credit loss” basis, as opposed to a 
purely historical assessment. APNA has analysed the 
receivables as at 31.12.2018 by way of referencing to 
the historical trends as well as the probability of the 
potential expected loss to the organisation. Based 
on the assessment the adoption of these Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations did not have any 
significant impact on the recognition, classification and 
measurement of financial assets on the Statement 
of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
or Statement of Financial Position of the company.

 •  AASB 15 Revenue from contracts with customers

This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The core principle 
of the standard is that an entity will recognise revenue 
to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to 
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration 
to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange 
for those goods or services. The standard will require: 
contracts (either written, verbal or implied) to be 
identified, together with the separate performance 
obligations within the contract; determine the transaction 
price, adjusted for the time value of money excluding 
credit risk. APNA has analysed customer contracts by 
way of going through performance obligations within 
the contract, determining the transaction price relevant 
to performance obligations by giving reference to AASB 
15.48. Based on the assessment performed, the adoption 
of the Accounting Standard AASB 15 and Interpretations 
did not have any significant impact on the Statement 
of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
or Statement of Financial Position of the company.

 •  AASB 1058 Income of Not for profit entities

This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2019. This Standard 
establishes principles for not-for-profit entities that apply 
to: (a) transactions where the consideration to acquire 
an asset is significantly less than fair value principally to 
enable a not-for-profit entity to further its objectives; and 
(b) the receipt of volunteer services. An entity shall apply 

the requirements of this Standard to each transaction 
based on the substance of the transaction, rather than 
its legal form or the description given to it (eg grants or 
donations), so as to provide a faithful representation of 
the economic substance of the transaction. APNA has 
analysed transactions (other than volunteer services) 
to determine whether there were any transactions 
which were significantly less than fair value. Principally, 
to enable a not-for-profit entity to further its objectives. 
Further APNA also analysed to see whether fair value 
of volunteer services be measured reliably. Based 
on the assessment performed, the adoption of the 
Accounting Standard AASB 1058 and Interpretations 
did not have any significant impact on the Statement 
of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
or Statement of Financial Position of the company.

 • AASB 16 Leases

This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The standard 
replaces AASB 117 ‘Leases’ and for lessees will eliminate 
the classifications of operating leases and finance 
leases. Subject to exceptions, a ‘right-of-use’ asset will 
be capitalised in the statement of financial position, 
measured at the present value of the unavoidable 
future lease payments to be made over the lease 
term. The exceptions relate to short-term leases of 12 
months or less and leases of low-value assets (such as 
personal computers and small office furniture) where an 
accounting policy choice exists whereby either a ‘right-of-
use’ asset is recognised or lease payments are expensed 
to profit or loss as incurred. A liability corresponding to 
the capitalised lease will also be recognised, adjusted 
for lease prepayments. APNA has analysed leases held 
by the company by way of referencing to the annual 
payment required. APNA have two lease contracts which 
qualifies under this standard but was not significant 
therefore was exempted under the standard. Based 
on the assessment performed, the adoption of the 
Accounting Standard AASB 16 and Interpretations 
did not have any significant impact on the Statement 
of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
or Statement of Financial Position of the company.
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 2018  2017 
$  $ 

Note 2 : Grant income   

Nursing in Primary Health Care program Phase 1 1,219,486 2,825,190
Nursing in Primary Health Care program Phase 2 612,080 0
Supporting GPs and Practice Nurses in Timely Diagnosis of Dementia program 0 138,219
National Bowel Cancer Screening program 0 75,319
Other external programs 187,086 2,000

2,018,652 3,040,728

Note 3 : Professional services income   

Online course registration income 27,750 39,197
New course development and hosting income 0 0
Education activity endorsement income 10,854 12,900
Workshop Income 144,819 226,773
Insurance Income 102,163 36,495

285,586 315,365
   

Note 4: Administration expense  

Auditors remuneration – Audit Services 18,650 11,995
Auditors remuneration – Grant acquittal 4,500 2,500
Consultants 44,368 46,062
Insurance 10,894 12,761
Legal fees 18,480 25,152
Licenses, registrations & permits 33,133 14,828
Board travel, accommodation, training and other expense 104,566 115,933
Printing and stationery 29,135 24,443
Postage and couriers 9,671 12,630
Telephone & Teleconferencing expense 20,662 22,447
Rent & outgoings 98,112 93,509
Loss on disposal of asset 2,021 106
Volunteer representation expense 4,343 351
Other expenditure 6,831 6,904
IT expense 98,825 96,242
Bad debts 26,942 6,096

531,133 491,959

Note 5 : Cash and cash equivalents  

Cash at bank – APNA 167,025 154,042
Cash at bank – Grants 90,534 620,527
Term Deposits < 3 months 420,000 0

677,559 774,569

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 December 2018
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 2018  2017 
$  $ 

Note 6: Trade and other receivables  

Trade receivables 270,715 135,198
Accrued Income 10,107 5,474

280,658 201,178

Note 7: Prepayments  

Conference prepayments 50,916 32,314
Other prepayments 22,704 28,320

73,620 60,634
   

Note 8: Financial assets  

Term deposits < 12 months 1,217,150 1,042,588
1,217,150 1,042,588

   

Note 9: Plant and equipment  

APNA Plant & equipment – at cost 65,010 42,766 
Accumulated for depreciation (34,590) (29,888) 

30,420 12,878 
 

APNA Furniture & equipment – at cost 46,945 46,473 
Accumulated for depreciation (42,437) (35,521) 

4,508 10,952 
 

Written Down Value of Assets 34,928 23,830 

Movements in carrying amounts
Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of 
property, plant and equipment between the beginning  
and the end of the current financial year

 Plant & 
Equipment 

Furniture & 
Fittings Total

 $  $  $ 

Balance at the beginning of year  12,878  10,952  23,830 

Additions  27,993  472  28,465 

Disposals  2,021  0  2,021 

Depreciation expense  8,430  6,916  15,346 

Carrying amount at the end of year  30,420  4,508  34,928 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 December 2018
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 2018  2017 
$  $ 

Note 10: Intangible assets
APNA Intangible Asset – at cost 106,500 106,500 
Accumulated for depreciation  (41,316)  (20,016)

65,184 86,484 

Movements in carrying amounts
Movement in the carrying amounts for each Intangible asset  
between the beginning and the end of the current financial year  CRM Total

 $  $ 
Balance at the beginning of year 86,484 86,484 
Additions 0 0 
Disposals 0 0 
Depreciation expense 21,300 21,300 
Carrying amount at the end of year  65,184  65,184 

Note 11: Trade and other payables  

Trade creditors  40,447  54,213 
Accrued expenses  71,734  202,737 
PAYG withholding tax  44,399  50,839 
Superannuation payable  16,579  19,056 
Income in advance  156,346  146,876 
GST Payable to ATO  30,514 (54,410)

 360,019  419,311 

Note 12: Grants in advance  
 

Nursing in Primary Health Care program Phase 1 0 552,888 
Nursing in Primary Health Care program Phase 2 587,920 0 
Other external programs 69,105 0 

657,025 552,888 
 

Note 13: Provisions  
Current  
Provisions for annual leave 66,244 111,890 
Provisions for long service leave 60,673 40,397 
Provision for membership vouchers 29,749 0
Total 156,666 152,287
Non-current  
Provisions for long service leave 24,256 17,673 
Total 24,256 17,673 

 
Total provision 180,922 169,960
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
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 2018  2017 
$  $ 

Note 14 : Accumulated surplus
Balance at the beginning of the year 897,643 823,837 
Surplus for the year 154,029 73,806 
Balance at the end of the year 1,051,672 897,643 

Note�15�:�Cash�flow�information
(a) Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the cash flow statement is as 
follows:

Cash per balance sheet 677,559 774,569

 (b) Reconciliation of net cash flows from operating activities to net surplus:

Operating surplus/(deficit) 154,029 73,806

Depreciation 36,646 42,653
Loss on sale of fixed assets 2,021 106
(Increase)/decrease in receivables (154,017) (75,370)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments (12,986) (8,328)
Increase/(decrease) in payables 58,580 76,246
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities 104,137 (684,675)
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 10,962 35,490

Net cash flows from operating activities 82,212 (540,072)

Note 16: Key management personnel & board compensation
The total of remuneration paid to key management personnel of the company 
during the year are as follows:
Key management personnel & board compensation  504,661  485,294 
Includes all senior managers of APNA and APNA board members

Note 17 : Contingent liabilities
At the date of signing these accounts, the directors are not aware of any contingent liabilities. (2017: Nil)

Note 18: Events after balance sheet
There are no significant events which have occurred subsequent to 31 December 2018

Note 19: Operating lease commitments
Not later than 12 months  20,652  24,941
Between 12 months and 5 years  0  0 
  20,652  24,941
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 2018  2017 
$  $ 

Note 20: Related party transactions
Payment for facilitator or presenter services at Foundation workshops by 
Melissa Cromarty

4,320 8,400 

Payment for Key note speaker services at APNA National Conference by Holy 
Ransom as an employee of Emergent Solutions Pty Ltd

7,000 0 

Payment for Mentor services under the Transition to Practice Program 
tranche 2 by Helen Storer as an employee of David A Storer Pty Ltd

2,904 4,356 

Payment for facilitator or presenter services at Foundation workshops by 
Helen Storer as an employee of David A. Storer Pty Ltd

375 0 

Payment for assessments of endorsement application services by Helen 
Storer as an employee of David A. Storer Pty Ltd

50 450 

Payment for engagement in the ASD Guidelines Steering Committee by Jane 
Bollen as an employee of BMP Consulting Pty Ltd 

900 

Payment for developing education for the Transition to Practice Program 
tranch 2 by Jane Bollen as an employee of BMP Consulting Pty Ltd 

0 5,000 

Payment for facilitator or presenter services at Foundation workshops by Jane 
Bollen as an employee of BMP Consulting Pty Ltd

0 1,000 

Payment for engagement in the role of GP nurse in Health Care Homes Model 
discussion by Jane Bollen as an employee of BMP Consulting Pty Ltd 

0 300 

Payment for facilitator or presenter services at Foundation workshops by Ros 
Rollestone

0 6,650 

Payment for South Coast Primary Care unit trust t/a Worrigee Medical Centre 
contracted under the Enhanced Nurse Clinics project Where Ros Rolleston is 
an employee

0 7,000 

Payment for Mentor services under the Transition to Practice Program 
tranche 1 by Grant Badenoch spouse of Julianne Badenoch

0 1,200 

Payment for Consulting services for membership promotional campaigns by 
Danielle White spouse of Matthew Hall General Manager Member Services 

5,150 

Payment for supply of promotional items by Danielle White spouse of 
Matthew Hall General Manager Member Services 

0 1,176 

Payment for facilitator or presenter services at Foundation workshops by 
Denise Lyons

0 150 

Note 21: Segment Reporting
The company operates predominantly in one business and geographical segment, being the nursing sector 
supporting a healthy Australia through best practice primary healthcare nursing.

Note 22: Company details
The registered office of the company is:
Australian Primary Health Care Nurses Association Ltd
Suite 2 Level 2 159 Dorcas Street, South Melbourne, VIC 3205

The principal place of business of the company is:
Australian Primary Health Care Nurses Association Ltd
Suite 2 Level 2 159 Dorcas Street, South Melbourne, VIC 3205
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Crowe Horwath Melbourne is a member of Crowe Horwath International, a Swiss verein. Each member of Crowe Horwath is a separate and independent legal entity.  Liability 
limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. Liability limited other than for the acts or omissions of financial services licensees.  
The title ‘Partner’ conveys that the person is a senior member within their respective division, and is among the group of persons who hold an equity interest (shareholder) in 
its parent entity, Findex Group Limited. The only professional service offering which is conducted by a partnership is the Crowe Horwath external audit division. All other 
professional services offered by Findex Group Limited are conducted by a privately owned organisation and/or its subsidiaries. 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
to Members of Australian Primary Health Care 
Nurses Association Ltd. 
 

Opinion 
We have audited the financial report of Australian Primary Health Care Nurses Association Ltd. (the company), 
which comprises the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information, and the certification by members of the committee on the annual statements 
giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the association.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report gives a true and fair view of the financial position of Australian 
Primary Health Care Nurses Association Ltd. (the company) as at 31 December 2018 and of its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Division 60 of the Australian Charities 
and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, including:  

a) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 31 December 2018 and of its financial 
performance for the year then ended; and  

b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards to the extent detailed in Note 1 and Division 60 of the 
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013.  

Basis for Opinion  
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of 
our report. We are independent of the company in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of 
the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 (ACNC Act) and the ethical requirements of 
the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.  

 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report  
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair 
view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the 
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 (ANCN Act) and for such internal control as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of a financial report that gives a true and fair view 
and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report  
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement 
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during the 
audit. 

 
CROWE HORWATH MELBOURNE 

 
DAVID MUNDAY 
Partner 
Melbourne, Victoria  
Date:  25 March 2019 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
For the year ended 31 December 2018



Australian Primary  
Health Care Nurses  
Association (APNA)
ABN 30 390 041 210
Level 2, 159 Dorcas Street
South Melbourne VIC 3205
Freecall: 1300 303 184
P: 03 9669 7400
F: 03 9669 7499
E: admin@apna.asn.au

www.apna.asn.au Supporting nurses in primary health care


